
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB‑2011-0210

	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:


	6
July 19, 2012

Marika Hare

Paul Sommerville

Karen Taylor
	Presiding Member

Member
Member


EB-2011-0210
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act 1998, S.O. 1998, c.15, (Schedule B);

AND IN THE MATTER OF an Application by Union Gas Limited, pursuant to section 36(1) of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, for an order or orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates and other charges for the sale, distribution, transmission and storage of gas as of January 1, 2013.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Thursday, July 19th, 2012,

commencing at 9:37 a.m.
--------------------

VOLUME 6
--------------------



BEFORE:



MARIKA HARE

Presiding Member




PAUL SOMMERVILLE
Member and Vice-Chair




KAREN TAYLOR

Member

MAUREEN HELT
Board Counsel
KHALIL VIRANEY
Board Staff

LAWRIE GLUCK

CRAWFORD SMITH
Union Gas
MARK KITCHEN

CHRIS RIPLEY
JOHN WOLNIK
Association of Power Producers of Ontario (APPrO)

TOM BRETT
Building Owners and Managers Association (BOMA)

PETER THOMPSON
Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters (CME)

ROBERT WARREN
Consumers Council of Canada (CCC)

DAVID MacINTOSH
Energy Probe Research Foundation

ROGER HIGGIN

DWAYNE QUINN
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
JAMES GRUENBAUER
City of Kitchener

RANDY AIKEN
London Property Managers Association (LPMA)
VALERIE YOUNG
Ontario Association of Physical Plant Administrators (OAPPA)

JAY SHEPHERD
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
MURRAY ROSS
TransCanada Pipelines

GORDON CAMERON

MICHAEL JANIGAN
Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition
1--- On commencing at 9:37 a.m.


1Preliminary Matters


2VULNERABLE ENERGY CONSUMERS COALITION – PANEL 1


Dr. L.D. Booth, Sworn
     2Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Janigan


     8Cross-Examination by Mr. MacIntosh


     14Cross-Examination by Mr. Smith


49--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.


49--- On resuming at 11:18 a.m.


49Preliminary Matters


     50Questions by the Board


70UNION GAS - PANEL 4


C. Cameron, M.J. Isherwood, P. Elliott, W. Fay, Sworn; C. Shorts, Previously Sworn
     72Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith


93--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.


93--- On resuming at 1:53 p.m.


93Procedural Matters


     94Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken


     111Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn


137--- Recess taken at 3:03 p.m.


137--- On resuming at 3:28 p.m.


     140Cross-Examination by Mr. Cameron


171--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:32 p.m.




15EXHIBIT NO. K6.1:  UNION GAS'S CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM ON THE COST OF CAPITAL.


49EXHIBIT NO. K6.2:  CURRICULUM VITAE OF DR. LAURENCE BOOTH.


49EXHIBIT NO. K6.3:  REPORT OF DR. LAURENCE BOOTH, "BUSINESS RISK AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE FOR UNION GAS", DATED MAY 2012.


71EXHIBIT NO. K6.4:  UNION GAS DIRECT EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.


81EXHIBIT NO. K6.5:  CME COMPENDIUM.


96EXHIBIT NO. K6.6:  LONDON PROPERTY MANAGEMENT ASSOCIATION CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM, PART 2.


126EXHIBIT NO. K6.7:  FRPO COMPENDIUM FOR EX-FRANCHISE PANEL.




100UNDERTAKING NO. J6.1:  to UPDATE CHART AT J.DV-2-2-1, ATTACHMENT 1, TO EXCLUDE IMPACT OF FT RAM.


101UNDERTAKING NO. J6.2:  to ADD TO ATTACHMENT 1 THE SAME TYPE OF INFORMATION THAT WOULD HAVE BEEN IN ACCOUNTS 179-73 AND 179-74 FOR THE 2010 THROUGH 2013 PERIOD.


103UNDERTAKING NO. J6.3:  UPDATE TABLE FROM JT1.13 TO REFLECT YEAR-TO-DATE JUNE ACTUALS AND FORECASTS, AND BREAK OUT FT RAM CREDITS INCLUDED IN LINE 4 AS A SEPARATE LINE ITEM.


109UNDERTAKING NO. J6.4:  TO PROVIDE BASE EXCHANGE FIGURE AS A SEPARATE FIGURE FROM COMBINED NUMBER IN LINE 4 OF JT1.13, PAGE 8, LPMA COMPENDIUM PART 2.


136UNDERTAKING NO. J6.5:  TO ADVISE WHERE UNION DIRECTED ANNUALIZED ASSIGNMENT OF GAS FOR EACH MONTH BETWEEN nOVEMBER 2009 AND MARCH 2012; to multiply the demand charge to the eastern zone versus where the gas was directed, and to advise the difference in cost between those places for any of those months; and If there is a difference, if any of the eastern zone gas has been directed to another zone, to PROVIDE the difference in demand charge between the respective zones, and to multiply that by the number of units delivered for that month.


158UNDERTAKING NO. J6.6:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER, UNDER THE ORIGINAL CONTRACT, UNION PAID A COMMODITY RATE, AND THEN UNDER THE AMENDMENT, UNION PAID A MONTHLY A DEMAND CHARGE AT THE SAME PER-UNIT RATE.


163UNDERTAKING NO. J6.7:  TO PROVIDE CHANGES REQUESTED TO SCHEMATIC IN UNDERTAKING RESPONSE J.G-1-7-7.


170UNDERTAKING NO. J6.8:  TO PROVIDE YOUR VECTOR RECEIPTS ON A DAILY BASIS FOR THE LAST THREE YEARS IN THE WINTER.






Thursday, July 19, 2012

--- On commencing at 9:37 a.m.

MS. HARE:   Good morning.  Please be seated.


Are there any preliminary matters?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  A few preliminary matters, Madam Chair.


With respect to undertakings, just to give you an update, we have filed the undertakings, all of the undertakings, now through day 3.  The day 4 undertakings will be filed by the end of lunch today, and I understand that we should be fully caught up tomorrow.


MS. HARE:  Oh, very good.  Thank you.  Mr. Janigan.


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, one final matter.  We have filed the settlement agreement, which was -- it was filed yesterday with the Board system.


MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.  We haven't seen that yet, but we will, and we will come back with a decision, a final decision, on that settlement agreement.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Janigan, I think you are introducing your witness; is that correct?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, that's correct, Madam Chair.


On behalf of CME, CCC, VECC, LPMA and SEC, we're presenting the evidence and testimony of Dr. Laurence Booth, and Dr. Booth is here prepared to testify and be sworn.


MS. HARE:  And ready to be sworn in?


MR. JANIGAN:  Ready to be sworn.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.

VULNERABLE ENERGY CONSUMERS COALITION – PANEL 1


Dr. Laurence D. Booth, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Janigan:


MR. JANIGAN:  Dr. Booth, you are a full professor of finance and a finance area coordinator for the Rotman School of Management at the University of Toronto?


DR. BOOTH:  I am a professor of finance at the University of Toronto.  I am no longer the area coordinator.  I gave that up four years ago.  Twenty-one years was enough.


MR. JANIGAN:  I understand you are also the CIT chair in structured finance?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And alone or with Dr. Berkowitz, you have testified in rate hearings before this Board in issues of corporate finance, cost of capital, return on equity for both gas and electric utilities?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And alone or with Dr. Berkowitz, you have testified before other utility regulators across Canada on similar issues in boards such as the CRTC, the National Energy Board, the Alberta Utilities Commission, the Régis of Québec, BCUC, among others?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And appendix A of your testimony, which is Exhibit -- I wonder if I could have the exhibit number for Dr. Booth's...


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry.  We are just getting ourselves organized here.


MR. JANIGAN:  That's okay.  I should have gotten it beforehand.


MR. SMITH:  If it's of assistance, Dr. Booth's curriculum vitae is in our compendium and will soon be marked, so...


MR. JANIGAN:  That's not the appendix A we are looking at.  It is the whole evidence, Crawford.


MR. SMITH:  I have a copy of that, too.


[Laughter]


MR. MILLAR:  I apologize, Madam Chair.  This was sent in as a stand-alone document.  Normally they are marked as an exhibit for intervenor evidence.  I'm not sure that happened here.  We may need a moment to sort it out.


MR. SMITH:  It should be in the K binder.


MR. MILLAR:  That's where it would normally be.


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Millar, if it helps, it was filed -- or the date on the document is May 16th, 2012.


MR. MILLAR:  We have the document.  We can certainly pull it up on the screen.  I'm not sure it was ever assigned a file number, is what we're struggling with.  It was certainly filed.  We have the date and we have the document, and we can readily pull that up on to the screen.  Maybe we can do that for now.  I assume people have copies of the --


MS. HARE:  Where would it have been filed in the evidence?


MR. MILLAR:  Well, it was filed by the intervenors and, normally, when that comes in, it gets slotted into, I think it is the K binder, as Mr. Smith points out.  I assume that was done.  We're just having trouble getting our hands on it right now.


MS. HARE:  Can we continue?  I think everybody has got it, and we can correct that later.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thanks.  Dr. Booth, you provided evidence in this proceeding entitled "Business Risk and Capital Structure For Union Gas"?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And are there any corrections that you wish to make to that evidence?


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  Apart from a few typos, there is two things of substance.  Page 13.


MR. JANIGAN:  I think we have that up there now, Dr. Booth.


DR. BOOTH:  I think it's the next page for me.  Okay, the pagination is slightly different.  So go back to the next page, please.  I am recovering from a summer cold.


Line 12, where it reads, "...actual pre-tax cost of this change in capital structure at $19 million...", "19" should read 17 million.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


DR. BOOTH:  And then on page 33 just above the question, "What about supply risk?", line 12, where I say, "... this is now moot since in franchise storage is no longer regulated...", that should be ex-franchise storage is no longer regulated.


MR. JANIGAN:  And are there any other corrections, apart from typos?


DR. BOOTH:  No.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Subject to these corrections, is it your evidence that you believe it to be true, to the best of your knowledge and belief?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Madam Chair, I would ask that Dr. Booth be accepted as an expert for the purpose of giving his opinion with respect to Union's proposed capital structure.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  No objection.


MS. HARE:  No objections.  Thank you.



[Dr. Booth accepted as expert witness.]


MR. JANIGAN:  Dr. Booth, can you tell us what you were asked to do by the sponsors of your evidence?


DR. BOOTH:  I was asked to provide an opinion on Union's proposal to change its capital structure and to recommend fair and reasonable financial parameters.


MR. JANIGAN:  And what analysis did you undertake to provide your opinion?


DR. BOOTH:  Capital structure is generally determined on the basis of two things, business risk and financial market access, to consider whether, given the business and the financial risk of the utility, they've got access to the capital markets.


So one part looks at business risk.  The second part looks at current market conditions.


MR. JANIGAN:  What conclusions did you reach, applying your analysis, concerning Union's business risk and financial market access?


DR. BOOTH:  Business risk has got two dimensions, short run, which is the ability to earn the allowed rate of return, which is return on capital, and, long run, the return of capital.


In my review of Union's short-run risks, there's been no change.  It continues to earn its allowed rate of return, as in fact the company admits.


On the long-run basis, my view is the collapse in the price of natural gas over the last three years has made natural gas more competitive than alternative fuels, so the long-run risk of recovery of rate base is probably marginally lower than it was six years ago.

So overall, my assessment would be that the business risk certainly hasn't increased, if not has probably decreased marginally.

MR. JANIGAN:  What were your conclusions that you reached with respect to financial market access?

DR. BOOTH:  Financial markets for the last four years since the financial crisis have been in quite an unusual situation.

We've had incredibly low bond yields.  We had a very serious financial crisis that lasted essentially into the end of 2009, when financial market access was a serious concern for many companies.

Since then, financial markets have eased, and we have had a significant easing in terms of access to market, in terms of the loan market, in terms of the corporate bond market.

We have incredibly low interest rates.  So financial markets are relatively easy, in terms of access for utilities and non-utilities, although there is continued uncertainty surrounding the euro crisis and the recovery of the American economy.

MR. JANIGAN:  What implications does that have for Union's financial market access?

DR. BOOTH:  Union's planning a bond issue at 3.9 percent.  I think that just about says it all.  It has very, very good market access, and in this current situation, there seems to be an incredible appetite for debt, whether corporate debt or government debt, that yields which, a few years ago, we would regard as incredibly attractive, and uneconomic from the point of view of investors, but investors seem to be willing to accept yields that are very, very close to zero, real rates of return, once you consider inflation and taxes.

So it is a great time to be a high-quality debtor.

MR. JANIGAN:  And so what recommendations do you have for this Board concerning the proposed capital structure of Union?

DR. BOOTH:  Capital structure, as I mentioned, is normally determined based upon business risk and financial market access.

There is no basis for increased common equity ratios based upon a change in business risk for Union.  And in my judgment there is no basis on the fact that it is difficult to access capital at the current point in time.  So I would recommend that Union continue either its current capital structure.  In my view, the last time Union's business risk was looked at it was settled at 36 percent.  The last litigated common equity ratio for Union Gas was 35 percent, and I would see no reason to change that.  My recommendation has been 35 percent for distribution companies for the last 10 years.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are all of my questions in-chief for this witness.  He is ready to be cross-examined.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

I understand, Mr. MacIntosh, you have a few questions.
Cross-Examination by Mr. MacIntosh:

Mr. MacINTOSH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Dr. Booth, I wonder if you could turn to page 67 of your evidence.

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. MacINTOSH:  And in that, on that page, the question was:
"What could justify a lower common equity?"

Going over to page 68, the last paragraph in your answer:

"Overall, I would judge a 35 percent common equity ratio for Union Gas as being consistent with its low business risk, significant size and greater capital market access than any other gas utility in Canada other than Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc."

I wonder if you could state were there any other factors that led to this conclusion.

DR. BOOTH:  Any other?  I -- any other factors than what?  Than is included in my evidence?  Or...

MR. MacINTOSH:  Well, other than in that paragraph that I just quoted.

DR. BOOTH:  No.  I consider -- Union and Enbridge are generally regarded as the premier distribution companies in Canada.  Until recently, they were on a par with the TransCanada main line and NOVA gas transmission, but the main line has changed over the last five years.

So they were perceived as being very low-risk.

And size is a factor in the capital markets, because with a certain size you're able to access parts of the capital market that small utilities and small companies can't access.

So you can go into the swap market.  You can basically issue NTNs almost at a moment's notice.

So that size is a factor in looking at utilities, and then you have to consider capital market access.  The decision in Canada that led to the definition of a fair rate of return resulted as a result of changed conditions in the money market.

So whenever you have to look at the business risk, size, the common equity ratio, you always have to sort of come down to where the rubber meets the road, which is:  Can they actually issue capital, raise capital in the current capital market conditions?  Can they maintain a financial integrity?

So on that basis is the basis -- that's the basis on which I derive my conclusions, and that paragraph summarizes those conclusions.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you, Dr. Booth.  I wonder if you could turn to Exhibit J.E-2-3-6, which is an interrogatory from Energy Probe.

DR. BOOTH:  I'm assuming that it comes up on the screen and I no longer actually have to turn to the page?

MR. MacINTOSH:  Well, we're looking for attachment 1 and it has been on the screen before, on Tuesday.

That's it.

I could say that Energy Probe is interested in the relationship between S&P and DBRS debt rating and equity thickness.

And this attachment shows the deemed equity ratio of 14 different utilities.

So the -- it shows the relative ratings of the three Canadian gas utilities with deemed equity ratios of under 40 percent, ATCO Gas at line 6, Gaz Métro, line 9, Enbridge and Union.

So I wonder if you might comment on the fact that those are in the lowest range of equity thickness and yet their ratings are relatively high.  Could you comment on that, sir?

DR. BOOTH:  They're the biggest utilities in Canada.  The fact is when you've got a big utility, you're accessing capital on a reasonable, regular basis, so you're not exposed to sort of episodic financing risk, in the sense that you need to raise capital when you raise it in one chunk, and it is there forever and it is a big part of your capital structure.

So when you get to some of these utilities, like Fortis Alberta, that's a tiny little utility, and if they have to raise any capital, they're at risk of, say, going out and raising capital with, say, 6 percent and then discovering interest rates drop to 4 percent, as they have done.  Then they have discovered they have a significant amount of debt that leaves them with a high embedded debt cost.

So when we look at utilities, it tends to be the case that the size is a factor in the risk of utilities from the point of view of accessing debt markets.  They can't smooth their debt cost out as much as others.  And their size generally is associated with lower risk.

So when you look at that, I mean, Enbridge and Union, as I mentioned, are the two biggest gas distribution utilities.  Gaz Métro basically is Quebec.

ATCO Gas actually isn't a company.  It is -- it's barely a department of Canadian Utilities.  It's exactly the same as ATCO Pipelines.  It is all part of Canadian Utilities, which is one of the biggest utilities in Canada, and the debt costs for ATCO Gas are basically flowed through from Canadian Utilities.

So you always have to be careful when you look at these comparisons.  I mean, Pacific Northern Gas is a tiny little gas company up in Northwest BC, and it lost 70 percent of its load when Methanex closed down.

Then some of these other ones, Gazifère, a tiny little gas utility owned by Enbridge up in Quebec; Heritage Gas, a lot of problems in Nova Scotia rolling out a new gas distribution system.

So I am always wary.  When you look at tables of numbers, people just add them up, and they say, Well, this is the average.  And they don't bother to go in and say, Well, why have these companies got what they have he got?  There is a story behind all of these numbers.

The Nova Scotia Utilities Review Board just went through a hearing in Heritage Gas last year because it has got significant deferred assets and is building out the rate base.

Certainly there are some utilities that aren't included here.  Enbridge Gas New Brunswick is one, for example.  Maritime Electric is another.

Again, they're tiny little utilities -- relatively small utilities.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. MacIntosh, just before you continue, I think it is important to clarify the record with respect to ATCO Gas.  ATCO Gas is the holding company.  It is a tiered corporate structure.  I don't want to testify, but it is not a small utility.  ATCO Gas is the gas distribution assets for the City of Edmonton and City of Calgary.  They are not --


DR. BOOTH:  Oh, it's a very big utility.

MS. TAYLOR:  You said it was very small, and I think we need to correct the transcript.  They are fairly large gas distribution entities.

DR. BOOTH:  That's right.  ATCO Gas is, if I recollect, a little bit smaller than Terasen Gas, but it is one of the premier gas distribution utilities in Canada.

And it, along with ATCO Pipelines, is part of Canadian Utilities which, in turn, is owned by ATCO, which is traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange.  So the phrase "ATCO", sometimes we use it, but we're not referring either to the pipeline or the gas -- or the holding company.

MS. HARE:  I think what Ms. Taylor was asking you to correct, though, is you called it a "small department".

DR. BOOTH:  Oh, okay.  Yes, it is -- the gas company is not a separate traded utility that issues debt under ATCO Gas.  It is not limited or incorporated.  It is just a division, and ATCO Pipelines is another division within the same company, within Canadian Utilities.

So that.... it is a small department, but it is a big company.

MS. HARE:  Yes, thank you.

MR. MACINTOSH:  Dr. Booth, overall, can you provide your opinion on whether Union's business and financial risk would be increased or decreased as a result of its application for rates in 2013?

DR. BOOTH:  If this Board gives ATCO -- sorry, ATCO.

If this Board gives Union Gas 40 percent common equity, then by definition there's more equity and the utility, as a whole, is marginally lower risk.  Because you've then got what I would perceive as being marginally lower business risk than six years ago and almost certainly from 14 years ago, which is the last time this Board reviewed Union Gas's business risk, I would say it has lower business risk since then, and then you've got lower financial risk.

You've got to remember:  one time Union Gas had 29 percent common equity.  So to go from 29 percent common equity to 40 percent, when there is no evidence of any inability to earn its allowed rate of return or any problems in terms of accessing capital, that does represent a significant reduction in financial risk.

MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you, Dr. Booth.  Madam Chair, those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Do any of the other parties have any cross-examination questions before we turn it to Union Gas?  No?  Thank you.  So, Mr. Smith.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I do have some questions for Dr. Booth, and I handed out a cross-examination compendium, Union Gas Limited Cross-examination compendium, Cost of Capital, and I would ask that that be provided to you and marked as an exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  This will be Exhibit K6.1, Union Gas's cross-examination compendium on the cost of capital.
EXHIBIT NO. K6.1:  UNION GAS'S CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM ON THE COST OF CAPITAL.

MR. SMITH:  Do you have a copy of that, Dr. Booth?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.  I was given it 15 minutes ago.

MR. SMITH:  It was provided to your counsel last night.

If I could ask you just a few preliminary matters, I take it, sir, that you are aware that the parties have reached a settlement in this proceeding relating to the application of the Board's ROE formula?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  My understanding is that Union has now agreed to get the Board's ROE formula without any premium relative to Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.

MR. SMITH:  And if you turn to page 1 of my compendium, you will see an excerpt from the transcript cover page, and then over at page 2 you will see an excerpt from the transcript at page 129 from earlier this week.  Do you have that, sir?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And these are questions from Mr. Thompson.  And if you look at the bottom at line 23, the suggestion is put to Union's witness that the methodology reflected in the Board's report -- and I take it you are familiar with the Board's report, sir?

DR. BOOTH:  I am.

MR. SMITH:  That the methodology reflected in the Board's report regarding the cost of capital and capital structure, that the decisions with respect to each are made separately.  Do you see that?

DR. BOOTH:  I see that.

MR. SMITH:  And over the next page, the Union witness agrees with that proposition.  I take it you agree with that, as well?

DR. BOOTH:  The fact that business risk and rate of return are established separately by this Board?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  They don't have to be, but this Board and the National Energy Board and the Alberta Utilities Commission generally looks at establishing separate common equity ratios in the rate hearing of each individual utility, and then setting a generic ROE that can be applied once the capital structures offset differences in business risk.

MR. SMITH:  So that is a yes?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  But other boards don't do that.

MR. SMITH:  Now, if we look at your report, yours is the only name on the report, sir?

DR. BOOTH:  Mine is what, sorry?

MR. SMITH:  Yours is the only name on the report?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you are the only witness here to testify in respect of that report?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  So I take it it is fair to conclude that the report was prepared by you?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I suspect Mr. Janigan should have asked me that question.

MR. SMITH:  Perhaps.

If we look at your CV, sir, and if you look particularly at my compendium at page 12, do you have that?  Under the heading "Testimony" on the left-hand side --


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  -- you list a number of appearances.

And I am correct, am I not, that you have testified in Canada, but not in the United States?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have, therefore, never been qualified as an expert in the United States?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I have never been asked to testify in the United States.

MR. SMITH:  I am also correct sir, am I not, that you testified in the Board's consultation process on the cost of capital review?

DR. BOOTH:  I don't know whether the phrase "testify" is correct.  The Board Chairman at the time made great pains in saying that it was a technical conference.  It was not testifying under oath and it was a lot more informal, but I provided an opinion at the time of that technical conference.

MR. SMITH:  I have always wondered about that distinction, sir, when we talk about people not testifying under oath.

You are a professional; correct?

DR. BOOTH:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  I assume that you knew, when you were providing answers to questions, that people might rely on those answers?

DR. BOOTH:  Oh, true, and everything I said in that technical conference was absolutely correct.  I was just surprised at the intervention by the Board Chairman at the time when he prevented lawyers from asking questions and saying, Well, this is not cross-examination.

MR. SMITH:  I take it you don't quibble with the fact, as you just said, though, that to the extent you gave answers, and you did, that you gave them honestly and to the best of your ability?

DR. BOOTH:  Absolutely.  And everything I say in this hearing I say to my students, as well.

MR. SMITH:  Now, if you turn over at page 17 of the compendium, and at line 10, you were asked a question by Mr. Cass:

"So when you do make your comments about US regulation of utilities, you are not doing so as an expert in the area, right?

And you answer:

"That's right."


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that continues to be true?

DR. BOOTH:  That continues to be true.  What's happened over the last 10 years is we're getting more and more US witnesses coming into Canada, bringing in evidence from US utilities.

So gradually people have had to become more aware of what is happening in the United States.  If I am ever asked to testify in the United States, then I would be qualified at that point in time.

MR. SMITH:  But, sir, as the answer says, you are not offering any evidence with respect to the regulation of US utilities, as an expert; correct?

DR. BOOTH:  At the current point in time, correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

DR. BOOTH:  I haven't been qualified, as I said, to offer an expert opinion in the United States.

MR. SMITH:  If you turn over to page 18, at the bottom you were asked again:

"It was, in particular, the third of the three areas that I was referring to that you're not an expert in.  It is the impact of regulation in the United States; correct?"

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that continues to be true to this day?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  And that's why I rely upon the opinions of Moody's and S&P.

MR. SMITH:  We will come to that in a minute, sir, but continuing over in the compendium, page 20 in the bottom, and if I could ask you to look at line 4, you were asked another question there:

"The NEB said Canadian firms are increasingly competing for capital on a global basis.  I take it you agree with that, in light of what we just discussed?"

And you say "yes" and that continues to be true.

DR. BOOTH:  Absolutely.  Every year the capital structure markets become more integrated.

MR. SMITH:  Now, just a couple of other small matters.

I take it you are spent your entire professional career in academia; is that correct?

DR. BOOTH:  No.

MR. SMITH:  For how long have you been in academia, sir?

DR. BOOTH:  Since July the 1st, 1978.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it you have not worked for a rating agency before?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

Mr. Smith:  And that is equally true in Canada or the United States?

DR. BOOTH:  That's true.

MR. SMITH:  Now, can I ask you to turn to page 33 of the compendium?

DR. BOOTH:  I worked as a financial analyst in the UK before doing -- coming to the United States, but not as a rating analyst.

MR. SMITH:  And can I ask you to turn to page 33?  Do you have that?

DR. BOOTH:  I am, yes.

MR. SMITH:  What we have here is attachment 3 to
J.E-2-12-14.  Do you see this in the upper right-hand corner?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  This appears to be a report from Standard & Poor's entitled:  "Global Credit Portal"?  Do you have that?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And you certainly would have had access to this at the time you prepared your report?

DR. BOOTH:  I don't think so.

MR. SMITH:  Well, it was among the prefiled -- it was among the interrogatories which, all of which predated your evidence; is that correct?

DR. BOOTH:  Well, that's correct, but as you are probably aware, the time from receiving the interrogatory answers to filing testimony is very short.

So it certainly was there.  Whether or not I read it and -- or looked at it in any detail, I can't remember.

MR. SMITH:  So the date on the report is February 24th, 2012.  And if I could ask you to turn over to page 34; do you have that?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And you will see in this report S&P discusses how they categorize business risk profiles.  Do you see that in the third paragraph, sir?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  They say in the second paragraph:

"To determine a business risk profile, Standard & Poor's analyzes a utility's regulatory support."

And then it continues through a number of other areas.  Do you see that?

DR. BOOTH:  I'm sure they say that, but I don't actually see it, but...

MR. SMITH:  Second sentence, third paragraph.
"To determine a business risk profile..."

DR. BOOTH:  Okay.  I see that.

MR. SMITH:
"...Standard & Poor's analyzes a utility's regulatory support."

And then a number of other factors?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes, I see that.

MR. SMITH:  And so it is fair to say, sir, that regulatory support or regulatory risk is, at least as far as S&P are concerned, a part of business risk; correct?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  Not the way that I would categorize it, but I think Moody's splits it a little bit, but it is a question of whether you think regulatory risk is implicit in the business risk of the utility or whether it is layered on top of it.

MR. SMITH:  And, sir, I take it your opinion is that S&P is known to be a harsher judge of credit quality than either DBRS or Moody's?

DR. BOOTH:  I'm not so sure about that.  DBRS did a study of that about eight or nine years ago, and they explained where they disagreed with -- with S&P.

So I'm not so sure I would agree with a blanket statement like that.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I will provide this to you at the break, but that was a direct quote from your evidence in Union's 2006 rate case, where you said:

"The fact is that S&P is known to be a harsher judge of credit quality than either DBRS or Moody's."

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  As I said, there was an analysis done by DBRS at the time.  I think it was 2003.  Because at that time, what was happening was that S&P was coordinating their ratings with -- once they took over CBRS in the late 1990s, and at that time there was a fear that it was going to be downgraded because of -- S&P was reviewing all of the regulated utilities in Canada.

MR. SMITH:  So --


DR. BOOTH:  And DBRS took issue with that.

MR. SMITH:  So if we can look back at page 34, we know that regulatory risk, at least as far as S&P is concerned, is included in business risk.

Now, if I can ask you to turn back a few pages, Dr. Booth, and you will see at page 29, this is the:
"Standard & Poor's global credit report for US regulated natural gas utilities, strongest to weakest."

Do you have that?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And if you turn over the page, can we agree that looking at the business risk profile of these utilities, that almost without exception -- over pages 2 and 3 -- the business risk is rated as "excellent" with a smattering of "strong" and a couple of "satisfactories" thrown in for good measure?

Do you agree with that?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I mean, these are utilities, after all.  And they're regulated because they have market power, which means they have reserved powers to protect the integrity of the utility and implicitly the bondholders.

MR. SMITH:  And if we look back, sir, at page 23 -- maybe 22, to identify the document -- you will see another Standard & Poor's document from -- also from earlier this year.  And this relates to "US regulated electric utilities, strongest to weakest."

Do you have that?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And if you turn over the page to page 23, you will see under "Business Profile" all of the business profiles on the first page are "excellent"?  Correct?

DR. BOOTH:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  On page 24, all of the business risk profiles are "excellent" with the exception of three, which are referred to as "strong"?

DR. BOOTH:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  Page 25, all of the business risk profiles are referred to as "excellent" with the exception of seven, which are referred to as "strong"?

DR. BOOTH:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  Page 28, all of the business risk profiles are referred to, again, as -- page 26, sorry.  All of the business risk profiles are, again, rated as "excellent" with the exception of two that are "strong"?

DR. BOOTH:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And it is finally on page 27 that we get our one and only "satisfactory."

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Now, sir, you said at the outset, when you were being qualified, that you have testified in a number of Canadian jurisdictions.

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it that you have, in every instance, and continue to accept the expertise of the regulators in those jurisdictions?

DR. BOOTH:  You have a smile on your face.  Obviously regulators hear a lot of evidence, and they have -- they should have an in-depth understanding of the utility that they're regulating.  So they obviously have expertise in that area.


MR. SMITH:  So you are certainly not suggesting here - and I take it you have never suggested - for example, that the Alberta Utilities Commission was not competent to have rendered the decisions it has rendered on cost of capital?

DR. BOOTH:  I don't think so.

MR. SMITH:  Now, if I could ask you to turn to page 38 of the compendium, this is a bit, perhaps, of a walk down memory lane for you.  Have you got that?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And this is your testimony in the Alberta Utilities generic cost of capital proceeding back in 2000
-- I believe your report is 2003, and the proceeding itself was 2004; correct?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  The decision was certainly 2004.

MR. SMITH:  I take it as a general matter, sir, that you agree that utilities with the same risk profile should be treated the same from a cost of capital perspective?

DR. BOOTH:  As long as they have the same business risk, then the only thing that would cause them a difference in the capital structure is market access.  You can have two utilities with the same business risk, but it doesn't mean to say that they have equal access to the capital markets and financing opportunities.

So as a result, you will have differences in capital structure.

MR. SMITH:  I take it --


DR. BOOTH:  Business risk is the first leg in analyzing capital structure.  The second is financial integrity, financial market access.

MR. SMITH:  I take it that you similarly agree that it is possible to compare utilities to one another?

DR. BOOTH:  Broadly, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that is true both across sectors, gas and electricity; correct?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that is true across jurisdictions; correct?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And, in fact, you've done that on a number of occasions?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  So if we look, again, at the compendium, and we have in your pre-filed evidence -- and turning over to page 40, can I ask you to look at what you have entitled "Business Risk Rankings"?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And am I correct, sir, that beginning at page 40 of the compendium, paragraph 11 - and just so we have it, this was appendix A to your evidence in that proceeding - that you set out a ranking of the various business risks of the utilities by sector; correct?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  So if we look, beginning at page 40, you set out some of the short-term risks that utilities face, and you referred to some of these earlier in answer to some questions.  Do you recall that?

DR. BOOTH:  I do, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And then over at page 41 you identify some -- what you describe as medium and longer term risks.  Do you see that?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  We'll return to that in a minute.

But if I could ask you to turn over -- sorry, at the bottom of page 41, line 27, you say, "As a result of this interaction", and you were referring to some discussions you had with your client at that point
"...my judgment is that the lowest risk regulated utilities in Canada are currently electricity transmission assets..."

And that was your opinion?

DR. BOOTH:  That is correct, and that was also, I seem to remember, my opinion in the Hydro One Networks case, 2007, before this Board.

MR. SMITH:  And if I can ask you to turn over to page 42, you say, beginning at line 9:
"I would place the gas transmission pipelines as the second lowest risk group."

And you refer there to Foothills and the TCPL BC system.  Do you see that?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I would change that ranking now, but...

MR. SMITH:  We will come --


DR. BOOTH:  Ten years later, nine years later.

MR. SMITH:  We will see the changes you have made, or haven't.  But if you look down -- or turn over the page to page 14, which is page 43 at the bottom.

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  You say at line 23:
"The third group of utilities are the local distribution companies, including both gas and electric."

Do you see that?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And there you are saying, sir, that gas and electric local distribution companies face the same business risk; correct?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  And that judgment was actually the judgment of the AUC, as well.

MR. SMITH:  I agree.  No doubt about that.

So if you would turn over the page to page 44, what you will see is you say there that the conventional yardstick for LDCs is Enbridge and Union Gas.

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And then you go on to talk about Terasen at 33, and then you make a recommendation of 35 percent common equity ratio for ATCO Gas and for all the Alberta LDCs.  And that was your recommendation at that time?

DR. BOOTH:  That was correct.

MR. SMITH:  And if we look at the bottom, sir, page 44, you rank your risk and you set out your recommended equity ratios, and they follow what we've just gone over from pages 41 through to 44; correct?

DR. BOOTH:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  Now, three years later, you filed evidence in EB-2005-0520, which was Union's 2007 rate case.  Do you recall that?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And if you would turn over the page a couple of pages to page 46; do you have that?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And this is your evidence, which was in that proceeding Exhibit K2.

So if we turn over the page to page 47, sir, you have a discussion under the heading "What Comparators Would" -- I assume, "Would I Use For Union Gas".

Do you have that?  There should be a big heading,
"What Comparators Would Use For Union Gas?"

DR. BOOTH:  Sorry, I missed the big heading.  Yes, I see that.

MR. SMITH:  And what you will see, beginning at line 13, is you set out what you discuss are your major short-term risks.  Do you have that?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I didn't do a black line, but I take it you would agree with me this is the very same discussion set out in your AUC evidence?

DR. BOOTH:  Absolutely.  It is the same discussion, the same factors that I've looked at for --


MR. SMITH:  For many years.

DR. BOOTH:  For many years, yes.  They are the factors that determine the variability and short-run ability to earn the allowed rate of return and the risk.

MR. SMITH:  So let's just go through this, then, quickly, if we can.

So here, again, you say on page 48, line 27:
"Electricity transmission assets have been the lowest risk."

And that was certainly your opinion at the time.

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  And I think that still is my opinion.

MR. SMITH:  And if you look over the page at page 49, top of the page, page 2, you then, again, ranked gas transmission pipelines as the second lowest risk group.  Do you see that?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Then on line 13, we jump to your third ranking for local LDCs, and then again you rank both gas and electric together?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And then you say at line 18, the sentence that begins, "Within this group" --


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Do you have that?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Then you again refer to both Enbridge and Union Gas having 35 percent common equity.  And then you make your recommendation of 35 percent common equity for a typical local distribution company.

Again, that would be both gas and electric?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And then if you turn over the page, you say on page 50:
"In the two years since the Alberta --"

This is at line 6, sir.
"In the two years since the Alberta generic hearing, I have testified in business risk hearings..."

Then you list a number of proceedings in which you testify, and your views remain unchanged.

And that was true?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  As I mentioned there, the only situation that was changing was the emerging supply problems in western Canada that were hitting the main line.

MR. SMITH:  Then you say at line 16:

"The only other significant change is that the BCUC has recently increased the allowed common equity ratio of Terasen from 33 to 35, to bring it in line with Union and Enbridge."

Do you see that?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And the clear implication of that is that the BCUC thought that Terasen and Union and Enbridge should have a comparable equity ratio; correct?

DR. BOOTH:  I think that was the implication, yes.  The --


MR. SMITH:  Certainly the implication from your sentence?

DR. BOOTH:  That's right.  I am just trying to remember what was in my mind when I wrote that six years ago.

So there may have been other things in my mind at that point in time, as well, but clearly the BCUC has gradually increased the common equity ratio for BC Gas, Terasen Gas, Fortis BC -- Energy.  I have to keep reminding myself the name of the company -- because of changes in the lower mainland.

MR. SMITH:  And if you look over at -- well, sir, I take it that -- well, let's look over at page 53.

At page 53, what we actually have here is your evidence in Terasen's 2010 rate case.

Do you see that, sir?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And if I ask you to look over at page 55, we can jump right to your conclusion.  And you say on line 21:

"Overall, I see nothing in Terasen Gas's business risk to indicate that the allowed common equity ratio should change from the current allowed 35 percent."

So certainly your view was no change from as far back as 2006 or earlier; correct?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  The BCUC, on the other hand, felt that there was an increase in risk faced by Terasen Gas.

MR. SMITH:  Now, if we look over, then, a couple of pages, sir, page 56, this is the most recent proceeding in which you -- the Alberta utilities most recent proceeding.

Have you got that?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  This is the Alberta generic cost of capital proceeding from 2011?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you mentioned this earlier, but if you just look at page 61 in the bottom, paragraph 169, very last portion of that paragraph, it says:

"The Commission will account for the differences in risk among the individual utilities by adjusting their capital structures."

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that is consistent with what you told me earlier?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  That's what the NEB did in 1994, looking at the pipelines, and AUC did that in a generic hearing in 2003-4, and they're continuing to do that.

MR. SMITH:  Now, if you look over at page 62, sir, what we have is a chart that was helpfully put out by the AUC, that shows the last approved common equity ratios for various electric and gas transmission utilities and electric and gas distribution utilities.

Do you see that?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And at least as it relates to all of the LDCs, we can agree that their common equity ratio ranged between 39 and 43 percent?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  The -- just as a point of information, I provided evidence on behalf of CAPP related to ATCO Pipelines.

MR. SMITH:  I was going to ask you about that, because you did testify on behalf of CAPP, but I take it from the series of blanks in the far right-hand side that you did not, in fact, make a recommendation for any gas or electric utility other than ATCO Pipelines?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  In the generic in 2003/2004, the City of Calgary and CAPP both asked me to put in recommendations, so I made recommendations relating to the gas electric transmission distribution and the pipelines.

But in the hearing last year, CAPP just asked me to look at ATCO Pipelines, because NGTL was no longer under Alberta regulation.  It moved to national regulation, under the NEB.

MR. SMITH:  And that resulted in a change in ATCO Pipelines' equity thickness in --


DR. BOOTH:  That's right.  Because ATCO basically is integrated with NGTL and what they call the Alberta system now, so its risk is almost exactly the same as NGTL.  And they allowed them 38 percent common equity.

MR. SMITH:  Now, can I ask you to turn over, sir, to page 69?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And what we see there -- and you can -- the commission begins to set out its findings with respect to equity ratios, and the equity ratios required to achieve the minimum credit metrics considered to be associated with credit ratings in the A range.

Do you see that?

DR. BOOTH:  I know that's the policy of the AUC; correct.

MR. SMITH:  And in fact, I take it from reading your report, sir, that your opinion is, were it not for the fact that Union Gas is owned by Spectra, that it too would have an A rating?

DR. BOOTH:  Well, it is not just my opinion.  That is the opinion of -- I seem to remember is the Union Gas prefiled evidence.

MR. SMITH:  So that is an agreement?

DR. BOOTH:  That's the opinion of Union Gas, as well.

MR. SMITH:  All right.  So if I can ask you to turn over, sir, to page 71 of the compendium?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  What the Alberta Utilities Commission does very helpfully for people like me is it sets out the credit metrics compared to equity ratios.

Do you have that?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  So down the left-hand side, we have various equity ratios.

And then on the -- across the top, we have various credit metrics.

Do you see that?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And the credit metrics that are referred to are the earnings before interest and tax coverage, funds from operations to debt, and the funds from operations coverage.

Do you see those?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn up or have put up on the screen Exhibit J.E-2-15-3?

Do you have that?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes, it is in front of me.

MR. SMITH:  And this is an interrogatory that was asked by one of the intervenor groups that retained you, the School Energy Coalition, and if I can ask you to turn to the S&P report, which is attachment 2?

Do you have that?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  It should be up on the screen.

And in fact, you referred to this report in your evidence at page 72.  You have obviously seen the report?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to page 5 of the report?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And what we should have on page 5 under the heading "table 2" -– I want attachment 2.  It should be the S&P report -- sorry, attachment 1.  My apologies.

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And what we have here is table 2, and if I can just ask you, sir, to compare with me page 71 and the information that S&P sets out for us.

So if you look at 2010 on Exhibit J.E-2-15-3, and if you look at EBIT coverage, we have Union Gas at 2.6.  Do you see that?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And so if we just mark where that would be on page 71, that would put Union at the very bottom of the chart; correct?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And if we look at FFO to debt, as I read it, that would be 16.5.  Do you see that?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And if we go back to page 71, that would put Union somewhere between the 43 and 44 percent markers; correct?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  But you're putting the cart before the horse here.

MR. SMITH:  Well, let's just answer my questions.

DR. BOOTH:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  We have 16.5, between 43 and 44?

MS. HARE:  Excuse me, Mr. Smith.  Dr. Booth, did you want to elaborate on what you meant by putting the cart before the horse?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  The AUC said, given the financial parameters that we're going to award the utilities, the 8.75 percent ROE embedded interest cost, they worked out which capital structures would get certain ratios.

If, in fact, Union earns more than 8.75 percent, which it has, 10 or 11 percent, then it's going to have a higher interest coverage ratio.

What counsel is now saying, Well, given the fact that Union's earned a lot more than the AUC allowed return, that they've got a higher interest coverage ratio, then that implies a common equity ratio, which is exactly the wrong way of putting it.

AUC is looking at the allowed parameters that they had in the decision and saying, consistent with these parameters, these are the common equity ratios that give you these interest coverage ratios; whereas in the report from DBRS and S&P, they're looking at the actual rate of return that the utility earned, which in the case of Union was way more than the allowed rate of return.  So it is a meaningless comparison.

MR. SMITH:  Well, let's get it all on the record and we can argue about it later, sir.

If you look at FFO coverage on the right-hand side, and if you look at what is at page 5 of the S&P report, am I correct that we have FFO interest coverage of 3.5?  Do you see that?

DR. BOOTH:  FFO --


MR. SMITH:  Coverage.  I believe it is FFO interest coverage.

DR. BOOTH:  Oh, 3.5, yes.

MR. SMITH:  That would place it again at the 43, 44 rating; is that correct?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct, that given the regulated parameters of the AUC, then to get that funds flow to interest, you would need a higher common equity ratio; correct.

MR. SMITH:  And if we look down at the bottom paragraph 223, do you see that, sir?

DR. BOOTH:  223, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And, in fact, what the AUC observes is that:
"Currently, paragraph 223, table 9 above demonstrates that, by and large, the currently approved equity ratios meet or exceed the minimum levels determined by the credit metric analysis.  In light of these factors, the Commission considers that no across the board increase to the currently approved equity ratios for the Alberta utilities is warranted."


So they don't make an adjustment?

DR. BOOTH:  That's right.  They assume that with the 8.75 percent allowed ROE, which is less than the Board-approved ROE, and with an embedded cost of 4.6 percent and a tax rate of 25 percent, then you can support an A-rated, based upon these credit metrics.

As we know when we look at the credit metrics, the ratings that actually come out, Moody's, for example, only puts 40 percent of the weight on these credit metrics.

So not only does this indicate that they would get an A rating based upon these credit metrics, but given Moody's analysis, they would be better than the minimum rating, because Moody's puts 50 percent weight based on regulation, which is very favourable in Canada.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And if we look over then at page 75, what you see is you have the AUC's ultimate decision and here, again, we see for electric and gas distribution an equity thickness ranging between 39 and 43 percent; correct?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  But I would remind you the 43 percent is for the small utility.  I think it was AltaGas, which is spread out over a large area in Alberta, and the AUC makes an adjustment for whether or not they're a taxable entity.  Generally 1 or 2 percent in the common equity ratio higher for a non-taxable entity.

MR. SMITH:  We touched on this -- I believe you touched on this with Member Taylor, but if you go all the way back to page 44 of the compendium --


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  -- and at the bottom of the page "Average Risk", I mentioned gas and electric LDCs, and you said that was -- included Enbridge and Union.

Then you give an example, and the example you give is ATCO Gas?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct, because this was -- I think this was before the AUC.

MR. SMITH:  I'm not saying ATCO Gas was an inapposite comparison.  I'm saying the exact opposite, that it was an appropriate comparison for you to have drawn.

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  All of these were the utilities that the AUC regulated back in 2004 --


MR. SMITH:  And --


DR. BOOTH:  -- AltaLink, NGTL and ATCO Gas.

MR. SMITH:  And that was certainly your view at the time?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct, which was nine years ago.

MR. SMITH:  Now, if I could ask you to turn to page 80, sir?

Now, you may need to do this by way of undertaking, but we have -- at page 80 through to 82, we have the approved common equity ratios for Canadian Utilities across various time periods, and the allowed return on equity for Canadian Utilities across various time periods.

Do you see that?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And I don't suspect you have had an opportunity to check these, but I would ask that you do check these and confirm that they are accurate, and, if they are inaccurate, I would ask that you advise me of that by way of undertaking.

DR. BOOTH:  I mean, some of these utilities I have never been involved with, like the Pacific Northern Gas, but -- so going back finding the decisions for PNG going back to 2000 would be a significant amount of work.

MR. SMITH:  Well, why don't we do this?  Why don't you, by way of undertaking, provide what you can provide by way of -- or your counsel by way of information that you can get within a reasonable period of time?

DR. BOOTH:  What I would say is I have no reason to believe that the numbers provided here are inaccurate.  They look correct to me.

MR. SMITH:  All right.  Well, that's fine, then.  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  Sir, can I just ask you to turn back to page 41 of the compendium?  Do you have this?

DR. BOOTH:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And one of the medium- and long-term risks that you referred to there is bypass risk.  Do you see that?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Now, I take it that you would agree with me that a similar type of risk, although a bit different -- but a similar type of risk would be de-contracting on a system?

DR. BOOTH:  No.

MR. SMITH:  All right.  You don't believe that de-contracting is a medium- to long-term risk for a utility?

DR. BOOTH:  No.  It depends -- this has come up before the NEB in terms of the Mainline, where there's been a shift from fixed tolls, fixed service, to interruptible service.

If the pipeline runs full, you want to get fixed service, because you want a guarantee you can get your gas to market.

But if the pipeline is running at 50 percent capacity, and there is always capacity, there is no great premium to be paid for a fixed service, in which case you de-contract and you go to interruptible, which is what's been happening on the Mainline for the last ten years.

So TransCanada has said that that's an increase in risk, but the basic point is that gas will flow from A to B.  If the pipeline is full, you want fixed and you want a contract.  If the pipeline is half empty, then you might as well go for interruptible and the cheapest toll you can get.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it from what you referred to, in referring to TCPL, that I take it that is one of the justifications for their asking for an increase in their cost of capital?

DR. BOOTH:  Well, the TransCanada main line's currently running at about one-third of capacity, and it is not just the de-contracting.


It's the possibility of the whole of the northern Ontario line being stranded and basically changing the flows of gas around North America; there's basically bypassing the northern Ontario line.


MR. SMITH:  Well, I wanted to ask you about that.


If you have Exhibit A2, tab 1, schedule 4 can be brought up.


Now, you refer to this in your testimony, in your report.  A2, tab 1, schedule 4.  This is a report by ICF.


Do you have that?


DR. BOOTH:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And ICF, as I understand it, was the consultant retained by Board Staff to prepare the Natural Gas Market Review Report; correct?


DR. BOOTH:  If so -- I mean, I'm not quite sure of that, but I will accept that.


MR. SMITH:  And do you accept ICF's qualifications to talk about natural gas market conditions and their impact on Union Gas?


DR. BOOTH:  Not particularly.  I'd never heard of them until I saw this report, so I am not an expert on the number of people out there that provide supply forecasts.


MR. SMITH:  Well --


DR. BOOTH:  But --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, go ahead.


DR. BOOTH:  I have no reason to believe that they're not experts.


MR. SMITH:  Well, let me ask you to turn over --


DR. BOOTH:  Normally, we look at Wood Mackenzie, who is the big supply expert.  So I am familiar with seeing reports by Wood Mackenzie, and the reports obviously by the Alberta Utilities Commission and by reports coming out of the United States.


MR. SMITH:  Let me ask you to turn to page 23.


And at page 23, ICF sets out some of their conclusions with -- or their conclusions with respect to Union Gas.  And what you will see, beginning on page 24 at the top:

"There are a number of factors that create significant uncertainty regarding the throughput and utilization of Union Gas facilities through 2018.  The combination of an unclear economic outlook, uncertainty regarding TCPL tolls, a relatively soft market for storage and considerable uncertainty with regard to de-contracting transportation by ex-franchise shippers, together present significant challenges to Union and the Board."


Do you agree with that?


DR. BOOTH:  I think right now we're in a situation where the -- we've still got a weak US recovery, which means the demand for natural gas is weak.  So the demand side for gas is weak.


At the same time, shale gas is a game-changer.  There is 8 BCF a day coming out of Marcellus that wasn't there three years ago, and this is causing a change in flows around the system.


And I would say that obviously it imposes challenge to everybody, to reconfigure their system to take into account the change in the gas -- dynamics of the gas market.


I would say that, in terms of its impact, its impact on Union's transportation system is a lot less than the impact on the TransCanada main line, because what we're seeing is the emergence of Dawn as a major natural gas hub, because of all of the storage and because of its pivotal position.


And one of the things that people are concerned about is that Marcellus gas is going to come in through Niagara and Chippewa into the Union system, and meet the needs of southern Ontario, which has traditionally been met by western Canada and the TransCanada main line.


And that is the concern for the stranded assets attached to the northern Ontario line.


MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to J.D-14-16-8, sir?  J.D-14-16-8.  That's it.


This is an answer to an interrogatory from BOMA, and Union was asked how it estimated the transportation capacity that is at risk.


And if you look at the response to (i), it says:

"These contracts are most at risk and may not be renewed, given the alternative and emerging supplies in the Marcellus basin."


Do you agree with that?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  Marcellus, as I said, is a game-changer.


MR. SMITH:  A few final questions for you, sir.


This is incredibly basic, but I am correct, am I not, that interest in preferred share dividends are both paid -- are both deducted from earnings before interest and tax?


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  Earnings before interest and tax is basically operating income, and is then divided amongst the people who provided capital.


Some of it goes to interest, the first charge.  Then it goes to taxes to the government.  Then it goes to preferred share dividends.  And then finally goes to the common shareholders.


MR. SMITH:  And common shareholder dividends, by comparison, are paid out of net income?


DR. BOOTH:  As are preferred share dividends.


I mean, actually there is no legal distinction in Canada between preferred shares and common shares; they're just different classes of shareholder capital.


MR. SMITH:  And if I could ask you to turn to the compendium back at page 84, do you have that?


DR. BOOTH:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  You will see schedule 6, and your, I take it -- if you look down at line 4, you will see a reference to "preference shares"?


Do you see that?


DR. BOOTH:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  I take it you are aware that Union has had preference shares in its capital structure for some time?


DR. BOOTH:  For some time, yes.  I think it has about $100 million worth of floating rate preferred shares, which -- then it has a little bit of its leftover more conventional preferred shares.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, sir.  Those are my questions.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


We will take our morning break now, before we turn to you, Mr. Janigan, for redirect.


So we will be back at, let's say, 11:15.


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, I take it it would make some sense for me to have the ex-franchise panel come up at that time?


MS. HARE:  Yes, please.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just a note.  I seem to be missing J.D-14-6-8.  I wonder if Staff could get me a copy of that, please.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:18 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

Mr. Janigan, do you have -- I'm sorry.  I'm sorry.  I think there is a preliminary matter from Mr. Millar in terms of the assigning of the evidence.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  You will recall there was a bit of confusion as to whether or not an exhibit number had been assigned to Dr. Booth's evidence and his CV.  As it turns out, I think by simple oversight it was never formally filed with the materials.  It was filed with the Board.  It is on the record.  Anyone can find it.  I believe everyone has a copy.

I am proposing we simply mark it as an exhibit now so it has a formal number attached to it.  So I would propose we identify Dr. Booth's CV as Exhibit K6.2, and then his report as K6.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K6.2:  CURRICULUM VITAE OF DR. LAURENCE BOOTH.
EXHIBIT NO. K6.3:  REPORT OF DR. LAURENCE BOOTH, "BUSINESS RISK AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE FOR UNION GAS", DATED MAY 2012.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Janigan, do you have re-direct?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, Madam Chair, just in one area.

Dr. Booth --


MS. HARE:  Sorry.  I'm sorry.  You know I'm still new at this two years later.  Mr. Sommerville reminds me that maybe we have questions first, and we do, actually.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks.
Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  Do you have anything?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I do actually have just a couple of questions, Dr. Booth.

Yesterday, and Mr. Smith referred to it today as well when he was asking you questions, the issue of the relationship between Spectra or Duke and the rating that S&P afforded Union came up.

And the assertion had been that the S&P rating, which was BBB, was driven by -- in part, by the association of Union Gas with Spectra.

Is that consistent with your understanding?  I wasn't completely sure about your answer.

DR. BOOTH:  I would say not in part.  I would say totally.  It is quite clear that, in the United States, public utility commissions did not protect bondholders when there were takeovers of telecom firms in the late '90s, and they saw a lot of their local telephone companies -- basically, the debt was downgraded almost immediately, AA through non-investment grade.

And as part of that event risk, Standard & Poor's will not rate an operating subsidiary higher than the parent unless it is ring-fenced, which means it is structurally insulated from the activities of the parent.

So this has come up in a number of Canadian jurisdictions.  It came up before the BCUC when Kinder Morgan took over BC Gas, as it then was, and they took undertakings basically to insulate the Canadian utility from the actions of a parent.

This also came about when Enron siphoned off one-and-a-half billion dollars US, $2 billion Canadian, from its pipeline subsidiaries, and S&P was looking for FERC to implement some sort of measures to prevent a parent, when it is in danger, siphoning off cash from an operating subsidiary.

And when FERC actually came out with its rules, as I referenced in my testimony, S&P was very disappointed.  They expected to see more protection put in place by FERC of its operating subsidiaries.

And that is a significant difference in the way in which S&P regulates -- sorry, S&P rates operating subsidiaries relative to DBRS.

So one thing, when I was talking about, Is DBRS a softer regulator than S&P?, DBRS rates Spectra exactly the same as S&P.  The only difference is that DBRS gives Union an A rating, whereas S&P feels that if push comes to shove, Spectra could siphon off cash from Union or any of its other subsidiaries.

And even there, if you read the report from S&P, it says the undertakings given by Spectra when it took over Union are providing it some comfort that the actions of this Board will actually allow it to intervene to prevent damage to Union Gas, and also damage to bondholders.

And that's the critical thing.  The critical thing is that if you've got a dodgy parent and they lose a huge amount of money and they look around and they scrape around, Where can we raise some cash?, and they look at this utility and they say, Well, this utility has an A bond rating, let's have it raise $100 million in debt, and then we manage its cash, have that cash dividended out to the parent, you can quite easily see S&P's point, which is, unless you ring-fence, you protect, the operating subsidiary from the actions of the parent, then they're not going to give you a separate rating for the subsidiary.

So you could end up with 50 percent common equity for Union, and it's highly unlikely that -- unless there is more specific ring fencing going on for Union, it is highly unlikely that the rating, the S&P rating for Union, is going to change.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That may provide some clarity surrounding an answer that Mr. Fetter gave yesterday, and it appears on page 11 of the transcript.  And Mr. Fetter was asked:
"...is a function of S&P rating Union on the basis of its relationship with Duke Energy?  Is that fair?  Is that your understanding?"

Mr. Fetter said:
"There has been some discussion of that relationship, although they -- in more recent times, S&P's noted that there is some protection for the regulated entity versus the parent."


And I take it that is what you are discussing.  These undertakings that were given provide a measure of protection for the regulated entity versus the parent?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  What you would like to see, from a bond rater's point of view, you would like to see some sort of provisions put in place by the regulator, that the utility has to maintain, say, minimum common equity ratio, that the cash is actually managed by the operating subsidiary, not by the parent, and that there are restrictions on dividend flows, there's restrictions on sale of assets, and there is restrictions on intercorporate loans.

So that basically functionally or structurally separates the operating subsidiary from the parent.  And S&P calls it structural separation.  Generically, we refer to it as ring fencing.

But if you've got a utility that generates cash and is low risk - and we've seen this in Canada for the last 25 years - there's a tendency for them to be used to form a holding company, to diversify into other operations.

We saw this with Bell Canada.  We saw this with NewTel, that used to be Newfoundland Telephone.  We saw it with Bronco.  In fact, if you go back, you saw it with Unicorp that used to own Union Gas.

There was a tendency to use the operating subsidiary as a core for a holding company to diversify into other operations, and to use the stability of the cash flows to finance these other activities, and that imposes risks.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry.  There is no suggestion of that in this particular case, but sort of from a structural point of view, S&P's rating would have been, in part, driven by that relationship?

DR. BOOTH:  Oh, I would say it is totally driven by it.  What they're recognizing is there is some potential that if Spectra gets downgraded because of whatever happens in the United States, that they may not downgrade Union because of the undertakings with this Board and the government.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Yesterday there was a discussion respecting the recent debenture series that have been placed by Union in the market.

Have you had a chance to look at the most recent placements that Union has made?

DR. BOOTH:  I know that they're planning a 3.9 percent issue.  And, currently, because of the US Operation Twist where they're deliberately going out to twist the yield curve and lower long borrowing costs in order to help the US housing market, that we have incredibly low long-term interest rates.

So we're looking at sub-4 percent for good investment-grade utility debt.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What I was actually looking at was material that is on the record in this case, which appears at Exhibit A3, tab 7.  And perhaps we could just have that come up.

There was a discussion yesterday respecting how those issuances were launched in the morning and subscribed by the afternoon, and Mr. Fetter provided and Mr. Broeders provided some further explanation around that.

But the question I have for you is:  Looking at the actual terms of the debentures - and there's one that is dated June 16th, 2011 and there's one that was July 20th, 2010, that are revealed in the record.  Do you see any -- there is a further one from 2008.  Do you see anything in those?  Perhaps you could just go to the subsequent pages?  There we go.  That is the June 16th, 2011.

Is there anything in the terms of those that strike you as unusual, or that would impede the success of that issuance?  Or would you have any commentary whatsoever with respect to the terms of those, that offering?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  This is a term sheet, so what happens is that Union Gas has a prospectus under which you incorporate all of the documents that Union Gas files, like its annual information form and everything else.

And then once it's got a prospectus, it has the ability to issue debt into the capital market, and this is unsecured, relatively clean debt.  There's relatively few covenant provisions.

And, I mean, Mr. Fetter is absolutely correct.  Given that we have this evergreen prospectus -- or in the US they call them shelf filings -- it is very easy for investment-grade companies to tap the market whenever it wants to raise debt.

So the fact that it basically sold out this issue in one day is not a surprise.  We see that in the equity market, as well.  We call them bought deals.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

DR. BOOTH:  So the only thing I would mention here -- and it might be marginally off-topic -- is this is unsecured debt.  These are signature loans.  So what we have here is a 30-year signature loan.

It is as if you go to the Royal Bank and said:  Look, I need 30-year money to buy a house.  And you say:  Well, I'm willing to sign a signature loan to buy that money.  And the Royal Bank would say:  Oh, no, we need a mortgage.  We need some specific assets underlying that.

And in Canada, we've gone away from mortgage -- with mortgage financing over the last 30 years.  And there's only a couple of utilities now that use first mortgage bonds.  And these are all MTN debentures.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Should the Board draw any conclusions about how this issuance proceeded or the terms related to it, in terms of the equity ratio?

DR. BOOTH:  It just indicates that Union Gas is a very investment credit, and the investment dealers will talk to Union Gas about raising money and they can raise that money relatively quickly, given the fact that it is a good investment-grade credit.

The only thing in terms of the terms, as I mentioned, this issue, June 11th, 2011, was just before the US announced Operation Twist, which was basically August 2011, and subsequently there was a complete collapse in long-term interest rates.

So this is a relatively expensive bond issue now, 4.88 percent, because it probably could have issued one percent lower because of the actions of the US Federal Reserve.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

DR. BOOTH:  But otherwise, I -- unless you point me to something in this, I can't see anything that is a smoking gun.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Those are my questions.  Thanks.

MS. TAYLOR:  I just have a couple of follow-up questions.

Dr. Booth, do you know what the spread was on this issue at the time it was issued, versus the underlying --


DR. BOOTH:  No, I would have to have a look, but I would guess it would be in the order of about 150 basis points, 140 to 160.

MS. TAYLOR:  The chart that my co-Panel member pulled up earlier, do you know the spreads on each of those issues at the time they were issued?

DR. BOOTH:  No.  The...

MS. TAYLOR:  And what the market --


DR. BOOTH:  I would have to go back and look at each of these issues and find the equivalent mature long Canada bond and calculate the spread as of the time of issue.

But my testimony, I've got the spreads from the generic bonds, the ScotiaMcLeod used to maintain, that are now DEX, that are in data stream.

And I've also got the spreads --


MS. TAYLOR:  No.  I think that you have answered the question.  You don't have the spreads.

And so from an equity thickness point of view, this is an investment-grade credit.  You didn't point out any differentiating feature of the term sheet that was on the screen.

So I would assume from this that this is representative of what any investment-grade credit in Canada would do when they're issuing bonds; is that a fair assessment?

DR. BOOTH:  I think that is a completely fair assessment.

The bulk of the -- the corporate bond market in Canada is regulated utilities, banks, and then a mixture of industrials.  And so the utilities are a big part of the corporate bond market in Canada, and most of that is investment-grade.  In fact, I think it is all investment-grade.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Dr. Booth, I would like to take you back to Exhibit J.E-2-3-6, if we could have that on the screen, please.

We have looked at this a couple of times over the last few days.  It is the table I am interested in, the attachment.

You have made a few comments about, for example, Pacific Northern Gas being a very small utility, Heritage Gas being a very small utility.

Out of this list, which do you think are fair to compare Union Gas to, in terms of the equity ratio?

DR. BOOTH:  I always look at the -- the gas distribution companies in Canada we regard as the
premier -- essentially the province-wide gas distribution utilities, which is BC Gas or -- whatever it's now called, Fortis BC Energy.

MS. HARE:  Yes

DR. BOOTH:  ATCO Gas, that pretty much does the bulk of Alberta.  Gaz Métro that does Quebec.  And then Ontario is big enough that we have two big gas utilities.

But apart from that, you get down to looking at sort of the two ones out in the Atlantic provinces, Heritage Gas and Enbridge Gas New Brunswick, which is not on this list, they're greenfield gas distribution utilities that thought they were going to get a lot of gas off the east coast and have had incredible difficult times building out the gas network and getting suppliers.

And in fact, Enbridge Gas New Brunswick has just -- the provincial government has just told them to write off a big chunk of the deferred charges, and there is all sort of lawsuits involved in that.

So Heritage Gas and Enbridge Gas New Brunswick are greenfield ones.  Gazifère's is a tiny little utility.  AltaGas, again, is a tiny little utility, spread out all over Alberta.  And the rest ones basically are electric utilities.

And Pacific Northern Gas I've always said was the riskiest utility in Canada, mainly because it served a couple of big customers, one of which was Methanex, that closed its doors, I guess, about four years ago, and there was another one, whose name I forget.  They lost about 70 percent of the load.  And the BC Utilities Commission pulled all of the strings to try and make sure that it would preserve its financial integrity, and it was still downgraded to below investment-grade.

And it was actually at one point slated to become an income trust as a way of avoiding the income tax and getting the rates down a little bit more competitively.  Now, of course, it's possibly the terminus for pipelines distributing gas out to L&G plants to sell out to Asia.  So all of a sudden it has become a strategically important asset, which is just another way of saying that whenever you look at these ratios, there's a story.

As I mentioned, the capital structures should be determined by business risk within a rate hearing, and it is the regulators that hear all of the particular features attached it that regulator, and they determine an appropriate common equity ratio.  And then you get lists of the common equity ratios and people add them up all up and say:  Well, the average is this.

But there is a reason why the regulators give different capital structures for different utilities.

And you miss that, just by just by adding them all up and saying:  Well, the average is 41 percent.

MS. HARE:  That's really why I asked you which do you think with comparable.  I heard you say Fortis BC, ATCO Gas, Gaz Met and Enbridge might be comparable.

So my next question is:  In your opinion, how important is it for a regulator to look at what comparable utilities have as a deemed equity ratio?  Should we attach any weights to the fact that Terasen is at 40 percent, ATCO Gas is 39 percent, Gaz Met is 39 percent?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes, you should.  The Régis regards Gaz Met as above-average risk utility.  Traditionally, Gaz Met has had a lot of industrial load, and it's had to use a lot of regulatory protection to protect Gaz Métropolitan.

And the capital structure decisions was set at a time, particularly Gaz Mét, when natural gas wasn't that competitive in Québec, where electricity, because of Hydro-Québec, was incredibly competitive.

The same thing for -- I keep saying BC Gas, but -- I prefer to call it BC Gas, but -- I mean, the same with BC Gas.  The problem there is you've got -- BC Hydro has incredibly competitive electricity rates.  And when they heard the case in 2009, natural gas was actually more expensive or at least on the cusp in terms of competitiveness with electricity.

And the big problem was that the lower mainland is getting so much high density housing that they're basically choosing electricity as the fuel of choice.

So it's a comparator in terms of the overall access to capital markets and what is involved in the utility, but none of these utilities are identical.  You have to take into account the qualitative factors, which is what goes on in the rating reports.

So there are benchmarks.  I prefer to look at them as benchmarks, that the reasonable range is, say, on this basis, 36 to 40 percent for the big gas distributors, and within that range there are ones that are a little bit more risky, like Gaz Métro, and I continue to place Enbridge and Union as amongst the lowest risk.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you, Dr. Booth.  I think maybe Ms. Taylor has a follow-up.

MS. TAYLOR:  It comes back to your conversation with Mr. Sommerville earlier regarding the presence or absence of undertakings between the corporate owner and the operating utility that is subject to regulation.

So undertakings or other covenants, do they exist in the regulatory relationship or corporate structure in any of the other utilities in Canada that you are aware of?

DR. BOOTH:  I think the BCUC had a hearing -- well, in fact, I know the BCUC had a hearing when Kinder Morgan purchased what was then Terasen Gas.  And, as far as I remember, there were some undertakings to the BCUC surrounding what was then Terasen Gas.

I'm not so sure that there's any undertakings, for example, for Emera and Nova Scotia Power.

MS. TAYLOR:  Just before you go on to the other utilities, Terasen or BC Gas is now owned by Fortis.  And are you aware of whether or not those undertakings have been relieved, or were they assumed by Fortis in the acquisition?

DR. BOOTH:  I will find that out when Terasen Gas files its hearing, which they're in the process of at the moment.  So I imagine that will be part of the hearing the BCUC will have later on in this year.  But, currently, I don't know what's happened in terms of those undertakings.

But I do know that different companies have different policies.  Fortis has a policy where the debt is raised at the operating level and it maintains separately incorporated subsidiaries, and, as a result, they're a separate board of directors technically that will have to look after the interests of the company.

So that affords some protection for investors that there actually is a separate incorporated subsidiary that's doing this, and that's a policy Fortis has pursued with Maritime Electric, Newfoundland Power, all of the subsidiaries.

So I think if I was a bond investor, I would take some protection in the fact -- in the way in which Fortis runs its companies.

Having said that, I don't know whether any of the regulatory bodies, whether it is the Board of Commissioners in Newfoundland and Labrador or PEI, actually require any more explicit undertakings in terms of maintaining particular common equity ratios, or maintaining the control of the cash or dividend policies, which is what is technically required to be fully insulated.

MS. TAYLOR:  When you --


DR. BOOTH:  But we don't tend to do that in Canada.  We don't tend to have corporate raiders just siphoning off a couple of billion dollars from an operating subsidiary.  So DBRS doesn't rate this as a risk, perhaps because it has yet to happen in Canada.  But it has happened in the United States, which is why S&P considers it to be a risk.

MS. TAYLOR:  In your answer to Ms. Hare regarding comparability, I was surprised that you didn't mention the fair return standard and the role that comparability --


DR. BOOTH:  I was told I wasn't allowed to talk about fair rates of return.

MS. TAYLOR:  Cost of capital includes the two components.  We're not discussing return on equity, but we're talking about the deemed equity, which is very much part of that exercise.

So do you agree or is, in your view, comparability in any way relevant with respect to the fair return standard as it relates to deemed equity?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  I mean, there is a relationship between common equity and the fair rate of return.  As you increase the equity ratio, all else constant, the risk to the shareholders is lower and they're going to have a lower rate of return.  So there is that relationship.

I have consistently argued for the last – 1994; how long is that, 16 -- 28 years that the appropriate way of dealing with capital structure is to deal with it in a GRA, where the regulators know the company.  They can look at all of the facts, and they can set an appropriate common equity ratio, because they look at the company in detail.

Fair rate of return is generic.  You are looking at the capital markets.  You're looking at interest rates.  You're looking at common equity prices.  You're looking at generic things.  They're not specific to any particular utility.

So I've argued consistently that capital structure should be determined within a GRA, and I've said repeatedly we should have one hearing every year in Canada to determine the fair rate of return and apply it to every utility in Canada, but obviously provincial regulators don't like that idea.

But certainly we end up filing exactly the same information in every hearing, and one --


MR. SMITH:  I know.

[Laughter]

DR. BOOTH:  At one time, before this Board, my former colleague and I, we filed testimony in an Enbridge Gas hearing, I think, where we incorporated as an appendix our Union Gas hearing.  We only had a skimpy summary, because it was -- one followed the other.  And we were told off, in no uncertain terms, that you cannot do that.  You cannot file Enbridge Gas testimony, attach it as an appendix in a Union -- whichever one it was.  You had to file the same information all over again.

So there is a huge amount of redundancy in the hearing process.  We get rid of part of that when we go to a formula rate of return, which is why I have strongly advocated those for years, and set the capital structure in the GRA, and only change it relatively infrequently when there's been a significant change in the structure of the industry.

And it does happen.  There's absolutely no question.  The Mainline and Pacific Northern gas, their risk profiles have changed dramatically because of the change in the gas flows around North America.

MS. TAYLOR:  My last question relates to the evidence that you did file, and I did not see a comprehensive analysis comparing what you have testified or identified out of Member Hare's list of the gas utilities that you considered to be comparables to Union; is that correct?  You didn't actually do that analysis and file it?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I was following up on basically the Board policies, which is you determine the capital structure on the basis of first principles, that you look at it from the point of view of the change in the business risk from the past time that the Board looked at the business risk of the utility.

And then the second step is to look to see whether the utility can access capital markets.

And that's exactly what I did.  Has the business risk of Union Gas changed over the last six to 14 years?  Probably it's gone down.  Can it issue capital in reasonable terms, A bond rating, 3.9 percent?  It can.

Whether or not the capital structure should be changed because the BCUC, for example, considers Fortis Energy BC's business risk has changed because of lower mainland, or because the NEB thinks that the TransCanada Mainline's business risk has changed, that is not immediately what is important.

What is important is the standard of whether or not the business risk has changed or whether it has financial integrity and can access the capital markets.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

DR. BOOTH:  If the markets felt that these comparisons were relevant and that, say, a US utility was getting 50 percent common equity and they felt that was the correct standard, you would not see Union Gas going out issuing debt sub-4 percent.  You would see the market saying, Well, it has too much financial risk.  Based upon these other comparisons, we're not going to buy a debt of that yield.

The raters give an opinion, and that is all they say:  It is it our opinion on the quality of the debt.  The market buys the debt, and that is where the rubber meets the road.  Can you finance, and at what cost?  And 3.9 percent is a pretty low cost of debt.

MS. TAYLOR:  But you would agree the 3.9 percent cost of debt is in a world where we would describe an economic crisis for Italy or Portugal that is 6 to 7 percent?  Do you agree with that?

DR. BOOTH:  The problem when you get into Greece and Italy is those yields -- I mean, Greece is borrowing -- well, it's not borrowing.

MS. TAYLOR:  It is a comment about the absolute reference and the conclusion you want me to draw from 3.9, which is solely related to their credit.  You did remark earlier that the one percent that we're seeing in the long bonds for quality government issuers in North America, if I can describe them as that, they're very low because of the twist and other structural issues that you've pointed out.

So the 3.9 by itself is not a beacon of anything in particular, other than that for an A-rated credit by DBRS in a world where seven percent represents a crisis level of debt; is that correct, based on your evidence?

DR. BOOTH:  No, it's not correct.  What we're seeing now is a flood of money coming into Canada, and we have seen it for the last several months, because we're a triple-A-rated issuer.

We have seen money flowing out of the banking system in southern Europe.  I am originally from England; about a third of all of the high-quality property in central London is being purchased by -- not by Brits.  They're being purchased by Greeks, even Germans, because they perceive the UK as a safe haven from the euro, if anything happens to the euro.  And they see it as a safe haven, in case Greece or Italy or whatever change their currency.

So there is absolute -- no question, there is uncertainty out there in the capital markets, in terms of the euro zone.  We've seen a flood of money coming into Canada.  We've seen the Fed's Operation Twist reinforcing this.

I personally don't think that the current treasury bill yield is a representative benchmark for determining a fair rate of return -- and I filed testimony before the National Energy Board to that effect -- simply because I don't think it is an opportunity cost, because what's happening is that the T-bill yields at two-and-a-half percent -- I think it is about a third of the balance sheet of the Bank of England -- is the government debt.  A third of the British government debt is owned by the Bank of England, and you're getting close to that in the United States, as well.

The people buying the debt is not ordinary people like PIMCO, big bond managers.  It's foreigners, scared stiff of losing their money in the euro, and the central banks.

So that's why I don't think the T-bill yields or the long Canada bonds at the moment are representative of an opportunity cost.

But having said that, the fact is Union Gas can borrow at 3.9 percent, and that spread, over the T-bills, looks pretty large, but only because T-bill yields and long treasuries in the United States are at incredibly lower rates of return.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Janigan, your redirect?

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Commissioner Taylor -- I'm in the wrong board here.  Ms. Taylor asked the question that I was going to ask for Dr. Booth.  So I have nothing in redirect.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you very much for your participation in this hearing, Dr. Booth.

DR. BOOTH:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  You are now excused.

Mr. Smith, do you have your next panel available, which would be ex-franchise revenues?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, I do.  And I would ask that they come forward.  As we had earlier indicated, Mr. Shorts is on this panel, as well.  He need not be sworn.

So I would ask Mr. Isherwood to come forward, Ms. Cameron to come forward, Mr. Fay to come forward and Ms. Elliott to come forward, along with Mr. Shorts.
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MR. SMITH:  If I could ask the witnesses to come forward and be sworn, that would be appreciated.  With the exception of Mr. Shorts.

Carol Cameron, Sworn


Mark J. Isherwood, Sworn


Pat Elliott, Sworn

William Fay, Sworn

Chris Shorts, Previously Sworn

MS. HARE:  Mr. Smith, we've been handed your direct examination compendium, which will get an exhibit number shortly.

Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  K6.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K6.4:  UNION GAS DIRECT EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.

MS. HARE:  It looks rather extensive, and I would just like -- you know very well it is not the Board's practice to go through an extensive examination-in-chief.

MR. SMITH:  I am fully aware of the Board's normal practice.  And perhaps I can just tell you what my thought process was, and I will obviously take your guidance.

On reviewing my friend's Mr. Thompson's compendium, there are a number of documents that date back to the 0520 case, the 0606 case and the 0220 case.

That isn't Union's case in-chief, obviously, and so none of those materials would have been included in this proceeding, which of course is concerned with the 2013.

I was concerned, however, in seeing that, that the Board not be provided with what -- at least from Union's perspective -- is the beginning of the story, which would predate the 0520 case, and that's why you have the materials you have.

The alternative is for me to wait and re-examine on it, which I am prepared to do, but -- and I take the Board's guidance on it, but it struck me that, as a matter of fairness to my friends, better to get out in front.

But I understand -- I'm happy to go whichever way you would prefer that we go.

MS. HARE:  Are there any comments from other parties?

MR. THOMPSON:  One of the rare times I agree with Mr. Smith.  He should get out in front.

MR. QUINN:  I would agree also.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Any other comments?

Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

MR. SMITH:  I don't expect any further agreement.

[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Please proceed.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Why don't we just go through adopting the evidence first?

Mr. Isherwood, if I can -- or Ms. Cameron, perhaps I can begin with you.

I understand you are the manager, capacity management and utilization for Union Gas?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that you have, prior to that, held the position of manager, strategic sales?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that you held various -- you have held various positions in Union's S&T group since about 1996?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that you have a bachelor of commerce degree from the University of Windsor?

MS. CAMERON:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And you have testified before this Board on several occasions, most recently in Union's 2011-0038 case?

MS. CAMERON:  That's true.

MR. SMITH:  And were you responsible or did you assist in the preparation of the evidence at Exhibit C1, tab 3?

MS. CAMERON:  I did.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying here today?

MS. CAMERON:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And similarly, with respect to answers to undertakings given in respect to that evidence, do you adopt that for the purposes of testifying today?

MS. CAMERON:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Isherwood, if I can turn to you, I understand that you hold the position of vice president, business development, storage and transmission?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that is a title that you have had since -- beginning earlier this year?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I did.  That's true.

MR. SMITH:  Prior to that, you were general manager, business development, storage and transmission?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  That's a position you held since 2010?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And before that, you were similar responsibilities with the title of director from about 2005?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you've been with Union Gas since 1982?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have an MBA from the University of Windsor?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  You have a bachelor of commerce from the University of Windsor?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that you have a bachelor of engineering, chemical, from the University of Waterloo?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  You are a member of the professional engineers of Ontario?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have testified before this Board on approximately a dozen occasions?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Including most recently in Union's 2011-0038 case?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Board, just with respect to Mr. Isherwood, his CV is not at tab A1 or tab -- A1, tab 14, and we will have a copy made available.

Mr. Isherwood, do you adopt the evidence at Exhibit C1, tab 3, for the purposes of testifying today?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And, equally, the answers to undertakings given in relation to that evidence?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Ms. Elliott, I understand that you are Union Gas's controller?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that's a position you have held since 2008?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I gather that you have been with Union Gas since about 1981?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  In various finance or accounting-related positions?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you are a chartered accountant?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And previously worked for Clarkson, Gordon, the predecessor to Ernst & Young?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I did, yes.

MR. SMITH:  You have a bachelor of mathematics degree from the University of Waterloo?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you have testified before the Board on approximately two dozen occasions?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sure.

[Laughter]

MR. SMITH:  You are a member of the CICA?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I am, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And a member of the ICAO?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And, Mr. Fay, I understand that you are the manager, underground storage Canada for Union Gas Limited?

MR. FAY:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that is a position that you have held since 2002?

MR. FAY:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you have in various -- I guess began your career with Union Gas in 1980?

MR. FAY:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have a bachelor of engineering from the University of Waterloo, civil?

MR. FAY:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that you are a registered professional engineer in Ontario?

MR. FAY:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you are a past president and member of the board of directors of the Ontario Petroleum Institute?

MR. FAY:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that you have testified before this Board on approximately ten prior occasions?

MR. FAY:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt the evidence at Exhibit D1, tab 9, for the purposes of testifying here today?

MR. FAY:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And, similarly, do you adopt the answers to interrogatories given in respect of that evidence?

MR. FAY:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Members of the panel, if you have a copy of the direct examination compendium, I just have a few questions in relation to that.  And, bearing in mind my earlier discussion, I will be reasonably quick.

Can I ask you to turn to page 1?  This appears to be an Interrogatory J20.10 given in the RP-2003-0063 proceeding, which I believe was Union's 2004 rate case.

I would draw your attention to the answer given in relation to question a), and there's a description of an exchange at that answer.  And either Mr. Isherwood or Ms. Cameron, can you just take a moment to review that and tell the Board, if you could, how exchanges back in 2003 are different, if at all, from what you undertake now?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  The definition that shows up on this first page actually is a definition that we will have seen through a number of different cases through the years.

An exchange is defined here as really between us and party A.  So party A would give us gas at one location, and we would give party A gas in a different location on the same day.

And the only other condition we would put around that is that one of those two spots, either where we give customer A gas or where they give us gas, one of those two spots would be on our system and one would be off our system.

That is a pretty consistent definition going back pretty far into our history, actually.  It is no different today than it was back in 2003.  We would talk today, and we will be talking today, about exchanges, and some start in our system and some end in our system, but it is always with another party.

MR. SMITH:  Just if you can give the Board some sense of it, for how long have you been engaging in exchange activity?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the first deferral account actually showed up in 1993, and, as I kind of researched back through some of our history, I found references as far back as '91 as being revenue in that year that was being earned on exchanges, which implies to me it was being done even before that.

So it goes back a number of years.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn over -- perhaps we can just identify it, but at Exhibit -- at pages 2, 3 and 4, what do we have there?  Am I correct that this is an excerpt from your prefiled evidence in that case, in the 00 --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And if we can look at page 6 of the compendium, we have an excerpt from the decision.  And just dealing with the question of deferral accounts, can I ask you to look over at pages 8 and 9 of the compendium and if you could just describe, Mr. Isherwood, the deferral account treatment that you referred to for exchange activity and how that has been treated by Union and the Board?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's summarized on page, I guess, 8 and 9 of the compendium, but there are really two different sharing elements.  The first is how much of that activity is built into the actual forecast.

So if we forecasted revenue going into the next year, how much of that would be shared between the ratepayer and Union's shareholder?  And as described here, that shearing was done on a 90/10 basis.  So based on our forecast 90 percent of what we had forecast as being revenue would be built on the actual forecast.

Then the deferral account itself would be set up for any changes in revenue relative to what was in the forecast, and that was shared 75/25, 75 to the benefit of the ratepayer.

And on this decision -- and this deferral account has evolved over time since '93, obviously, but the change that happened in this decision really was -- it is really found under Board findings on page 9 of the compendium, page 67 of the decision, the second paragraph:
"The Board finds that symmetrical variance account treatment of these revenues is appropriate."

So this was really the first time that we got the symmetry on the account.  Prior to that, we would actually have upside but not downside protection.

MR. SMITH:  Ms. Elliott, maybe this can be for you, but when we're talking about deferral accounts, which deferral accounts are we talking about here or which deferral account?  Oh, I'm sorry, I should have directed you to page 10, my apologies, and thereafter.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The accounting orders in this material from page 10 through to page 13 are the accounting orders
-- are the orders for those accounts that we have closed.

MR. SMITH:  And were these the deferral accounts, these were closed back -- we'll come to it, but were these the deferral accounts that were in existence or were these deferral accounts in existence at the time of the 2004 case?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, they were.  They were closed in either the 2007 rate case or subsequently in the settlement for the IR framework in 2008.


MR. SMITH:  Well, we can, I think, put a bit more precision on that.


Mr. Isherwood, do you have Mr. Thompson's compendium handy?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And if you turn to his page --


MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, Mr. Smith, I don't think we have that yet.


MR. SMITH:  Oh.


MS. HARE:  But since we're going to wait for it, I do want to ask just a question on your compendium, page 9, so that I understand what the mechanism was.


If we assume -- just so I understand this -- if we assume that the forecast was $10 million and so nine would go to ratepayers and one would go to the shareholder -- and you did 11, I understand that.  That extra million goes in the deferral account to then be split 75/25, well, what if you only did $9 million?  Did the deferral account and the symmetrical treatment apply?  Or were you held to the forecast of 10?


MR. SMITH:  We should ask Mr. Isherwood, but I believe that is correct.


MS. ELLIOTT:  I think the language in the accounting order would suggest that the 75/25 sharing would apply on both sides.


Having never experienced that situation, I'm --


MS. HARE:  Oh, you never had a downside?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Moot point.


MR. SMITH:  That's okay.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  It's -- well, I can't give evidence.  That is not actually 100 percent true.  There is a small problem with it, but...


The --


MS. HARE:  We have the CME compendium, so we should give that an exhibit number.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  K6.5.

EXHIBIT NO. K6.5:  CME COMPENDIUM.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Isherwood, just looking at page 8 of the CME compendium, Mr. Thompson has included here an excerpt from the 0520 case, which was Union's 2007 rate case.


And if I could ask you to turn under item 4.0, "S&T deferral account proposal," what was Union's proposal at that time?


And you should probably look over at pages 8 and 9.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It actually shows up on the bottom of page 9 and a bit on the top of page 10.


But I will refer to page 24 of 39 of that exhibit, but page 10 of the compendium.  Line 4, our proposal really was to eliminate the S&T transactional accounts at that point in time, and it was consistent with a view from the Board in the NGF policy paper in March of '05.


MR. SMITH:  And what, then, would have happened to S&T revenues beyond that included in the forecast revenue requirement?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So I think the intent at the time and the purpose at the time was to build in an appropriate amount of revenue into the forecast, and then beyond that, the upside or downside would be at the risk of Union Gas.


MR. SMITH:  Now, did those accounts actually get closed at that time?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, not at that time.


MR. SMITH:  If I could ask you, then, to turn over to Mr. Thompson's compendium, over a few pages to page 12, this is an excerpt from the settlement agreement that was entered into by the parties on May 15th, 2006.


And on page 12 of the agreement, page 21 of Mr. Thompson's compendium, can you just advise the Board of what had been agreed to at that time?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So this was really for the cost of service case in 2007.  And although Union had proposed to eliminate the deferral accounts, the Board actually sent a letter and asked that that issue be moved to the incentive regulation -– well, a couple of letters, but eventually landed in the incentive regulation hearing.


So at this point in time, those deferral accounts were maintained through 2007 cost of service.


MR. SMITH:  And so if I can ask you, then, to turn back to my compendium, at page 15, this is an excerpt from EB-2007-0606, Exhibit B, tab 1, page 11 of 48, paragraph 3, sir.


Can you tell the Board what Union was proposing then in its incentive regulation proceeding?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Still at this point proposing to eliminate the five S&T accounts.


MR. SMITH:  And did that ultimately happen?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It did not.  Not in the '07 cost of service case.


MR. SMITH:  We are now in the --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, this is the incentive regulation case?  Sorry.  It did get -- they did get eliminated through the settlement.


MR. SMITH:  So if you look over on page 18 -- "the parties further agree..." -- and is that where you are indicating that the parties had agreed to close certain deferral accounts?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And it may be useful to draw the Board's attention to this back in Mr. Thompson's compendium, and I apologize for bouncing around.


Can I ask you to turn to page 38 of Mr. Thompson's compendium?


And under item 14.1, we have an agreement, and what is it that Union had agreed to do with respect to S&T revenues in margin?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  What Union had agreed to was to actually increase the S&T revenues -- in this case, actually, it is a margin number -- by 4.3 million.


So at that time, our margin forecast was 2.6 million, and by adding the 4.3, it took it to 6.9.  And again, that's a margin -- margin, not revenue.  And the 6.9 would have been then built into rates to provide rate relief for customers.


MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn back to the compendium -- my compendium again or our compendium again, at page 19.


You should have here Exhibit B2.2; do you have that, sir?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And there is a reference there to "DOS MN" and perhaps I should start by asking what "DOS MN" is.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  DOSMN stands for Dawn overrun service must nominate; that is what the "DOS MN" stands for.


It was a service enhancement that TCPL added to FT contracts for the winter of 2008 and 2009.


They had previously sold some capacity from Dawn to markets east using the flexibility of their integrated system, and that flexibility really required to have a certain amount of gas flowing from western Canada down through the Great Lakes system and back into Dawn.


And they were actually projecting lower volumes than they needed to make that integrated system work the way they had planned, so they were going to be short gas supply at Dawn.  If they didn't have enough gas coming into Dawn, they couldn't provide the services they had contracted for.


So for them it was a way of ensuring that they got the right amount of gas flowing to Dawn to ensure they could meet their firm obligations on their system.


And what they actually needed was 165,000 gJs a day of capacity; they could guarantee, know what's coming, and they actually offered that to the market, the FT shippers, based on how much demand charge you're paying relative to the totals FT on their system.  So they kind of offered it on a pro-rata basis.


Depending how much FT you had on TransCanada and the demand charges you were paying, you would be allocated part of what they required.


So they were looking for 165,000 gJs per day for that winter, and Union Gas was allocated about 17,400 gJs per day.


And because we actually assigned some of our FT contracts to our industrials and other direct purchase customers, we offered those customers access to the same program that we had access to, and that actually was -- about 3,000 of the 17,000 gJs went to that part of the market.


So at the end of the day, Union Gas had about 14,400 of that service available to use for that winter.


MR. SMITH:  And what financial benefit did that give to Union Gas?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  The benefit to TransCanada was they were guaranteed the gas would flow and they could provide the services they had committed to.

And they offered that service basically, being transportation service from Empress Alberta to Dawn, at basically the firm commodity rate only, which is very low on TransCanada.  Most of their tolls earn the demand charge and fuel.

So for a very low toll, we could flow gas from Empress to Dawn.

MR. SMITH:  And how did you treat that benefit that you received?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  For that year we had, in our gas supply plan, planned to buy gas at Dawn.  So instead of buying gas at Dawn at the Dawn price, we actually bought gas at Empress and flowed it on this inexpensive transport to Dawn.

And the gas savings, the savings between what was in the plan versus what we had landed the gas at Dawn, was put through the transportation exchange account as an optimization activity.

MR. SMITH:  And you were asked in this interrogatory whether Union had taken its pro rata share and whether the full benefits would, in effect, flow through to ratepayers.

And the answer we have below, which was what?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The answer was it actually flowed through the S&T transactional account, and to the extent that it helped us earn our forecasted amount, it was the first contribution, if you want, towards ratepayers.

And, ultimately, if it contributed towards earnings sharing, it would also contribute towards ratepayer benefit that way.

MR. SMITH:  This was obviously the subject of some dispute in the 0220 case.  And can I ask you to turn to page 21 of the compendium?  What was the Board's decision with respect to that proposed treatment?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So on page 21, the second paragraph from the bottom under the title "Upstream Transportation Changes", it talks -- it gives the Board's decision in terms of agreeing with Union's position that ratepayers were already benefitting from the forecast that was built into rates.  As well, it can ultimately contribute to earnings sharing, as well, and that this was normal activity towards the transportation exchange account.

MR. SMITH:  A couple of other questions.  We have filed at Exhibit J3.1 an answer to an undertaking given to Mr. Quinn, and that was to draw a chart.

If I could just ask that that be pulled up.  And perhaps this is for you, Mr. Shorts, but could you just tell me what it is that we're looking at here?

MR. SHORTS:  Sure.  I will start from the bottom, just to give everybody an idea of what we're showing under this graph.

If we look at the blue area, the blue area represents the daily deliveries into Union's EDA for its in-franchise sales service and bundled customers.

This would exclude our transportation or T-service customers, because they are responsible for bringing their own transportation and supply into the zone each day.

If we go up to the first horizontal line at approximately 60,000, so that yellow line represents the contracted Empress to EDA Union long haul transportation capacity.

I will then move up to the green line, and the green line, which is just below 100, that is the long haul EDA to -- or Empress to EDA long haul capacity, as well as the firm short haul Parkway to EDA capacity that is contracted for.

I'm going to skip right up to the red line at the top, which is just over 160,000 shown, and that represents the contracted Empress to EDA long haul, the short haul firm Parkway to EDA I just mentioned, as well as our firm STS withdrawal rates.

And it is this line that is the firm capacity or the firm portfolio that is used to serve the design day in the plan for the EDA.

Now, a couple of things just to note.  You will see that the yellow line or the EDA capacity, that long haul capacity from Empress to the EDA, really serves two purposes.

It not only serves as part of that portfolio of peak day or design day assets, but it also serves to meet those annual delivery needs.

So, for example, if you look at the area in the graph where the blue lines are below the yellow line, that would simply be a time period in which, on a given day, the demands coming into the eastern delivery area were in excess of the daily requirements, and that gas would be STS-injected into Dawn storage to be used later.

And, likewise, when the blue lines are above that, that firm pipe is supplemented by those other assets, so either the firm short haul or the STS withdrawal rates.

One thing to also note is that during this time period, from November of 9 to March 2012, that gas supply was purchased each and every day at Empress.  So it was needed there for annual needs, and there was no UDC incurred because of those supplies.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Mr. Shorts.  And just a couple of last questions.  We had similarly provided, as we agreed to do, an update to Exhibit B7.7, which was a response to an interrogatory in a different proceeding, the 0087 proceeding.

And, Ms. Cameron, perhaps this is for you, but I would just ask you to focus on the TCPL-Union CDA and just describe what is being captured under the optimization percentage referred to there.

MS. CAMERON:  So Mr. Smith brought you to the last line on the graph, the Union CDA Empress to Parkway, and we have indicated we have optimized this 95 percent of the time.

Thinking back to what Mr. Shorts said about the graph, similar to the EDA, in the summertime the CDA would have similar load factors, that we wouldn't need all of the gas at Parkway in the summertime that we currently have demands for.

So we would contract for that by alternate arrangements and have that gas delivered directly to Dawn.  And we have characterized that as optimization, because it didn't go to the Parkway delivery point and went straight to Dawn for storage.

In the wintertime, we would have contracted for this gas to go to Parkway, but our actual gas -- our gas plan on a design day dictates that that gas would be delivered to the WDA or the NDA - so think of North Bay, Sudbury area - to serve our design day requirements.

During this particular winter - and I think this was 2011 - we delivered that gas to the WDA and NDA on non-peak days.  So just on an average winter day, we would deliver that gas to the WDA or the NDA, Sudbury, Thunder Bay, and we also dictated that as optimization.

It still went where the gas plan dictated it should go, but we did it on a more frequent basis.  By doing so, that left some amount of capacity - think of North Bay to Toronto - unutilized and would create RAM credits.

So we would take this transaction -- all of these transactions were due to the RAM credit benefit that Union could receive from that, and we could use those RAM credits to offset exchange costs.

We will do these transactions, while RAM is in place, to earn the credits and offset exchange costs, but we won't do this without the RAM benefit.

MR. SMITH:  May I ask you why that is?

MS. CAMERON:  Once RAM ends, there will be no -- and financial incentive to transport the -- to leave unutilized pipe, we would only incur incremental costs with no market demand or no need for exchanges.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Isherwood, just picking up on that, just at a high level, assuming the FT RAM program is discontinued by TCPL as they are advocated, what do you foresee the impact on your exchange activity being?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our 2013 filing has transportation exchange revenue at around $9 million.  That's a level not unlike what we saw prior to RAM coming into -- really into being in 2008 in a big way.  It existed before that, but in terms of large numbers and revenue, it is 2008 and beyond.

So our revenue from exchanges would go down to kind of a pre-RAM level of around $9 million.

MR. SMITH:  Finally, Mr. Isherwood, just one last question.

We have heard some evidence very recently about Marcellus and the impact on Dawn.  And how do you characterize that impact?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think North America is going through a pretty fundamental change right now in terms of gas supply.

We see the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin and even the Gulf Mexico in decline, and those are two basins that have been fundamental in supplying North America for many, many years, dating back to the '50s and '60s, for sure.

And as those basins are in decline, we're seeing, thankfully, luckily, shale gas evolving and developing all through North America in a very big way.  Closest to us, obviously, is Marcellus and Utica, which is in Pennsylvania and Ohio, very close to Ontario.

So the good news is is we have increasing supply to offset decreasing supply.  What we don't know is how that gas is going to flow to market.

At this point in time, there's not great connectivity between Marcellus, Utica and Ontario.  There are projects to actually develop pipelines from Ohio into Dawn, but at this point in time all we have really seen is turnback of our capacity.

We've had major turnback of capacity starting in 2011, again in 2012, and we have already gotten notice for 2013.  And when you add up the turnback we've gotten, it's close to a million gJs of supply or close to a pJ of transportation.  That's about a fifth of our Dawn-to-Parkway capacity.

And in terms of what's going to happen between '14 and '19, the number that's exposed is very large.  The number that we think is high-risk, though, is probably another 800,000 gJs a day of capacity.

So we look at the capacity on Dawn-to-Parkway being at risk.

We also have evidence that we are hopeful of growth, and the growth is also probably in the 800 to -- 800,000 to 1 pJ of growth, as well.

But it is a really uncertain time.  We've definitely seen the turnback, and we are hoping for the growth.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

And I appreciate the Board's indulgence.  Thank you very much.

MS. HARE:  We will take our lunch break now, returning at 1:45.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:53 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Aiken, I understand you're first in the order of cross-examining this panel.
Procedural Matters:

MR. SMITH:  Just by way of -- I always have something to say, but this time it is germane.


[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  Just by way of update, the day 4 undertakings have been filed.


MS. HARE:  Very good.  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Oh, sorry, since we did break, we see this are new cost allocation binders with updated evidence.  So has everything been updated so we can replace the previous binders with the new binders?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, for binders G and H.


MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.  Did I say cost allocation?  Okay, thank you.  Then, Mr. Aiken.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Panel, could you turn to page 6 and 8 of Exhibit K1.1?  This is the LPMA compendium from the first day of the hearing.  This is Exhibit J.E-2-2-2.  The question I posed earlier this week was referred to you, Ms. Elliott.


Page 6 and 8, it's on the screen there.  In part d) of the question, I asked whether Union was proposing any protection through deferral or variance accounts with respect to the cost escalation risk and, in particular, to bad debt, vehicle fuel costs, company-used gas, unaccounted for gas or any other cost.


The response on page 8 indicates that Union was not proposing new deferral accounts in this proceeding.


So my question is:  Can you elaborate on the deferral or variance accounts that will continue to protect Union from the cost escalation risks?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The list of deferral accounts that we're proposing to continue in this proceeding is filed at Exhibit H1, tab 4, appendix B.


MR. AIKEN:  And what do those accounts do, in terms of, for example, the protection related to unaccounted-for gas or company-used gas?


MS. ELLIOTT:  So you're specifically asking about the cost escalation of these particular costs in the question, not just in general?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, those ones, in particular.


MS. ELLIOTT:  For the cost escalation risk in bad debt, there is nothing that the company is proposing following the settlement agreement that deals with the cost escalation risk impact on bad debt expense.


The same goes for vehicle fuel costs.  Variations in vehicle fuel costs will impact the earnings directly.  There's no deferral mechanism to protect the company or the ratepayer against variations in vehicle fuel costs.


With respect to company-used gas and unaccounted-for gas, through the QRAM process or quarterly rate adjustment mechanism we have a mechanism to deal with the price variances on the Board-approved forecast amount.


So if the cost of gas goes up relative to how rates are set, that is adjusted through the quarterly rate adjustment mechanism for company-used and unaccounted for, but there is no protection on volume variances.


The only other cost escalation deferral mechanisms we have in place would be generally we have the cost of gas commodity deferrals, we have toll deferrals on the transport, and we have deferrals on DSM, the demand side management program.


We have a deferral or continue to have a deferral on IFRS conversion costs, but there is no new activity in that account.


That's the extent of our deferrals for cost escalations.


MR. AIKEN:  Would it be fair to summarize that the protection going forward is the same as the protection you had in the past?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, absolutely.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.  Panel, I have another compendium that I have filed and I put it on your desk at the break, the morning break.  It is labelled "London Property Management Association Cross-Examination Compendium, Part 2."


Mr. Millar, if we could have an exhibit number for that, please?


MR. MILLAR:  We can.  Did you place copies of these at the desk here, Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  I did.  It was on Mr. Viraney's chair.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh...  We have it now.


MS. HARE:  The number, please, K6...


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  K6.6.

EXHIBIT NO. K6.6:  LONDON PROPERTY MANAGEMENT ASSOCIATION CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM, PART 2.

MR. AIKEN:  Ms. Elliott and others, do you have a copy of that?


MS. ELLIOTT:   We do, yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We do.


MR. AIKEN:  So if you could turn to the first page of K6.6, this is Exhibit J.DV-4-2-3.


This deals with the change in the wording for account number 179-70, the short-term storage and other balancing services.


The response to part a) seems to indicate that there are no sources of revenue that Union is currently aware of that may materialize in the future that would be based on the use of the utility storage space in excess of the in-franchise requirements that is not included in the proposed list of revenues.  Have I got that correct?


MS. CAMERON:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Then this list of revenues is shown in the deferral account wording in Exhibit H1, tab 4, appendix C, which I have included at page 2 of the compendium, and I will read the relevant section.  It says:

"To record, as a debit (credit) in Deferral Account No. 179-70 the difference between actual net revenues for Short-Term Storage and Other Balancing Services including; Peak Short-Term Storage underpinned by excess utility storage assets, Off-Peak Short-Term Storage, Gas Loans and Supplemental Balancing Services and the net revenue forecast for these services as approved by the Board for ratemaking purposes."


Then in part b) of the interrogatory response, J.DV-4-2-3, I asked:

"Does Union agree that any source of revenue that is received based on the use of the regulated utility storage space that is not included in the proposed list should be included in the deferral account?"


The response provided indicates that:

"Union expects to sell the space in excess of in-franchise requirements up to 100 PJ on a short-term basis."


Now, this response, while helpful, does not answer the question posed.  Would Union agree to modify the wording in the deferral account to include, after the words "supplemental balancing services", the phrase, "and any other revenue generated through the use of excess utility storage assets"?


MS. ELLIOTT:  As the deferral account is currently written, it's only the peak short-term storage in excess of the utility storage asset that applies to the utility storage assets.


Every other source of revenue going into this deferral account, we don't identify the assets that are associated with it. So 100 percent of those activities are currently going through this deferral account.  There is no differentiation between utility assets and non-utility assets.


So the applicability for utility assets only relates to peak short-term storage.

MR. AIKEN:  I guess my concern is we don't know what kind of services Union may develop over the next number of years that may be based on these excess utility storage assets.

So if there was a new service that was to be provided, say, two years from now, that was not defined as peak short-term storage underpinned by excess utility storage assets, would the revenues from that new service or new activity be included in this account, if they were underpinned by those assets?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

Could you now turn to attachment 1 of Exhibit J.DV-2-2-1?  This is on page 6 of the compendium.

This table shows the margins that would have been in account in 179-69 for the last three years had the account not been discontinued for the IRM period; have I got that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's my understanding.

MR. AIKEN:  Does the "Revenue" line at line 1 include FT RAM credits?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It includes the exchange revenue earned as a result of utilizing FT RAM credits, yes, for optimization.

MR. AIKEN:  Are there any costs associated with the FT RAM credits that would show up in line 2?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. ELLIOTT:  If there were costs incurred to provide the service -- IT costs, for example -- they would be showing up in line 2, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you undertake to provide a version of this table that excludes the impact of FT RAM in the four years shown?  Because my understanding, there is no FT RAM in 2013; is that correct?

MS. CAMERON:  That's our forecast, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So could you provide a version of this table that would show, on an apples-to-apples comparison, everything that is left over, excluding the FT RAM?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, just one moment, Mr. Aiken.

Sorry.  We'll do it.  I'm pausing because I think we have now agreed to do this at least two other occasions; that's why I am pausing.  We have broken out FT RAM so many different ways.

But I think we can do it.  So if we've already done it, we will point to the interrogatory where it was done.

MR. AIKEN:  That's because it is so damn well hidden in these numbers.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That would also include a revision of the "Cost" line?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J6.1, and just so the record is clear, Mr. Aiken, it is -- the chart is the one at J.DV-2-2-1, attachment 1?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.1:  to UPDATE CHART AT J.DV-2-2-1, ATTACHMENT 1, TO EXCLUDE IMPACT OF FT RAM.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, if you go back to page 5, the question referred to the deferral accounts shown in Exhibits C3, C16, C33.2 in the EB-2007-0606 case.

In addition to account 179-69, there was account 179-73, which was "other S&T services" account, and account 179-74, "other direct purchase services."  And I believe those are actually listed in the direct examination compendium.

And my question is:  Would you also undertake to add to attachment 1 the same type of information that would have been in accounts 179-73 and 179-74 for the 2010 through 2013 period, because essentially that was what the question was trying to get at?

MR. SMITH:  I guess the question is -- we can do that, Mr. Aiken, but my understanding is we don't provide a number of the services that were previously reflected in the deferral account.  So that's going to be the answer.

MR. AIKEN:  And that would be fine.  I would assume that would show up as declining numbers over this period.

MR. SMITH:  Or zero.

MR. AIKEN:  Or zero.

MR. SMITH:  We will footnote it.

MR. AIKEN:  That would be fine.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do it.

MR. MILLAR:  J6.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.2:  to ADD TO ATTACHMENT 1 THE SAME TYPE OF INFORMATION THAT WOULD HAVE BEEN IN ACCOUNTS 179-73 AND 179-74 FOR THE 2010 THROUGH 2013 PERIOD.

MR. AIKEN:  If you could now turn to page 8 of the compendium -- this is Exhibit J.T.-1-1-3 -- this is an undertaking of Ms. Girvan to Ms. Cameron, or vice versa depending on how you want to word it.

This shows the year to date S&T actuals for 2012 compared to the forecast for the same period.

So based on the numbers there, am I correct that this shows that the total S&T revenue was about $7 million ahead of the forecast after three months?

MS. CAMERON:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, there are two line items that appear to be driving this variance.


The first is at line 4, which is the "C1 short-term transportation and exchanges" line, and it is about six million or 50 percent above forecast.

Am I correct that this is the line item that would have been in account 179-69?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  How much of the $6 million increase is related solely to the FT RAM credits?

MS. CAMERON:  I don't -- I don't have the exact percentage, but I expect the large bulk of it would be due to RAM.

MR. AIKEN:  So at least -- would you say or would you accept, subject to check, at least five out of the six million would be FT RAM-related?

MS. CAMERON:  That would be speculation, but it doesn't sound unreasonable.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then the second driver is at line 10.  This is "short-term storage services", which is about a million dollars above forecast.

Am I correct that this line item is covered in account 179-70 that was discussed earlier?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you update this undertaking response to reflect year-to-date June actuals and forecasts, and could you also break out the FT RAM credits included in line 4 as a separate line item?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J6.3.  And again, just to be clear, the table is the one from JT1.13?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.3:  UPDATE TABLE FROM JT1.13 TO REFLECT YEAR-TO-DATE JUNE ACTUALS AND FORECASTS, AND BREAK OUT FT RAM CREDITS INCLUDED IN LINE 4 AS A SEPARATE LINE ITEM.

MR. AIKEN:  So if we stay at this exhibit, JT1.13, am I correct that lines 10 and 11 are included in the "short-term storage and other balancing services" account, 179-70?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And then line 4 would be covered under 179-69 if it were to be reinstated?

I think you confirmed that earlier?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Would any other line items shown here be covered in a reinstated account 179-69?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. ELLIOTT:  There may be -- in the M12 transportation line, the previous account 179-69 also included M12 transportation overrun and limited firm service.  To the extent that those services still exist and are reported in line 1, they may be picked up in the deferral account.

But, generally, 179-69 was intended for short-term transportation and exchanges.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And then what line items would have been included or what line items, if any, would have been included in account 179-73, other S&T services account?  Would that strictly have been line 8?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The revenue as line 8 would have been included in that account.

MR. AIKEN:  And, similarly, what line items, if any, would have been included in account 179-74, other direct purchase services?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The schedule you're referring to, storage and transportation services, would not have included any of the direct purchase services.

MR. AIKEN:  Sorry.  Were any of the other line items that we haven't touched on in this schedule included in any deferral or variance account in the past?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, I understand that Union opposes the reestablishment of a variance account for the short-term transportation and exchange revenues relative to the Board-approved amounts built into rates.

What is Union's rationale for not reinstating such an account at this time?

MS. ELLIOTT:  In this proceeding, we're relying on our forecast and not requesting a deferral account.

MR. AIKEN:  So then if we go back to page 6 of the compendium, again, this is attachment 1 to J.DV-2-2-1.  The gross margin shown for 2010, 2011 and 2012 are all significantly higher than the Board-approved margin in rates.

Am I correct that the Board-approved margin in rates reflected Union's forecast in its last rebasing application?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, the margin in that, as included in rates, was actually adjusted in the settlement conference.  We had a forecast of 2 million and a bit more, but call it 2 million.  The settlement conference added 4 million, a margin to that, for a total of 6.9, I believe it was.

MR. AIKEN:  This is what you mentioned earlier today?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  So your forecast was in the neighbourhood of two, two-and-a-half million for each of those -- or for that year?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, the average gross margin over the 2010 through 2012 period is about 26 million, while your forecast was in the neighbourhood of -- let's round it to 2.6 million.

And this is before we factor in an increase of revenues of $6 million for the first three months of 2012 that we have in the other schedule.

So my question is this:  Why has Union's forecast been so bad?  How much of this variance was related to the FT RAM credits, specifically?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The variance is largely attributable to the FT RAM credits and how we optimized those credits and made them into revenue.

MR. AIKEN:  Did these FT RAM credits -- sorry, did these FT RAM credits exist at the time of Union's last rebasing application?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  FT RAM is a program that started in actually 2004, November 2004, so a very small impact in 2004.

So it was actually in place since 2004, but when you look at the activity in our earnings from 2004 onward, it really started to occur -- the impact started occur in 2008.

MR. AIKEN:  So then I guess on this issue of forecasting, if we go to Exhibit K6.4, which was the direct examination compendium filed this morning, and on page 3 of the compendium, this is your prefiled evidence in the RP-2003-0063 case.  It is page 6 of Exhibit C1, tab 3 in that evidence.

At the bottom of the page, starting at line 20, it says:
"The S&T transactional services market has declined dramatically over the last few years.  The following summarizes some of the key market factors that will reduce the opportunities to generate transactional services revenues at the same levels as has been generated over the last few years."

Then it goes on to list things like Enron, and counterparty risk, and summer/winter price differentials and so on.

How did your actuals actually stack up against your declining forecast from that case?

MS. CAMERON:  To confirm, I believe you are asking what the actuals for 2003 looked like versus the forecast for 2003?

MR. AIKEN:  No.  I'm asking about the fact that your forecast was that your revenues were going to decline because of the reduced opportunities to generate transactional service revenues at the same levels as had been generated over the last few years.

So that was your forecast in 2003.  How did that forecast stack up against what actually happened in 2004 through to the current date?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think -- I'm not sure we have the information going back to 2003/2004, but I think what I said this morning was it is still valid, in that our forecast for 2013 for this category was a little over $9 million, and we compare that back to our S&T revenue for transportation exchanges in the period prior to the incentive regulation.  And the $9 million is in that same range.  It is probably the high end of that range.

MR. AIKEN:  And what about during IRM?  That's when that 9 million would have been substantially lower than what was actually recorded?

MS. CAMERON:  When you look at -- actually, if I can take you to IR undertaking J.C-4-7-9 and attachment 2 of that response, and on line 1, you will see what our revenue has been since 2007 for what we would deem base exchanges.

And while everything on this page is an exchange service, we have tried to differentiate the exchanges we could provide without RAM, which is line 1, and the exchanges that we provided that were assisted by the RAM credits.

You will see that our exchange revenue for 2007 was about 3 million, and that escalates to maybe 8 and almost 10 million in 2011.

So that would be, if RAM didn't exist, what we would characterize as our exchange revenue for that period.

MR. AIKEN:  So while we're on that attachment 2 of J.C-4-7-9, can you update us as to what your six-month actuals versus forecast for base exchanges are?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's part of the undertaking, I believe.

MR. SMITH:  Let's put it this way:  If it's not, I'm happy to make it part of the undertaking.

MR. AIKEN:  I'm just wondering which line item on JT1.13 on page 8 of my compendium that base exchanges is included in?

MS. ELLIOTT:   It would be included in line 4.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be included in line 4.

MR. AIKEN:  Is there anything else in line 4 other than the base exchanges?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There would also be C1 short-term transportation.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  That is why I would like to have it broken out separately, if possible.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, that's possible.

MR. MILLAR:  Would that be part of the previous undertaking, or would you like that marked separately?

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we mark it separately?

MR. MILLAR:  So J6.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.4:  TO PROVIDE BASE EXCHANGE FIGURE AS A SEPARATE FIGURE FROM COMBINED NUMBER IN LINE 4 OF JT1.13, PAGE 8, LPMA COMPENDIUM PART 2.

MR. AIKEN:  And those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.  I understand, in terms of logistics, Mr. Cameron, you are not available tomorrow until 2:30, so you would like to go today with cross-examination?

MR. CAMERON:  If I could, Madam Chair, yes, though we've got an agreement among counsel that I won't start right away, but I -- because as I understand it, we don't expect to go all of tomorrow, I have to do my cross-examination today, but I just want to --


MS. HARE:  That's fine.  How long do you think you will be?

MR. CAMERON:  That's difficult to call, because I just got here, but I am sticking to the hour estimate that I gave.

MS. HARE:  All right.  So, Mr. Quinn, I understand you are next.  We will take a break around 3:00 if that's convenient.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  That's fine.

MR. CAMERON:  Then I could pick up after the break.

MS. HARE:  Then you could pick up.  That would work best.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, just so that we're all on the same page, I had understood my friend, Mr. Quinn, to have indicated that he was going to be two hours in cross-examination.

MS. HARE:  I have 90 minutes, but he will break at the break and then pick it up tomorrow morning.

MR. SMITH:  Oh, okay.

MS. HARE:  Is my understanding as to what's been arranged.

MR. QUINN:  That's correct.  To the extent Mr. Cameron asks questions I would have otherwise, then it may be less.

MR. SMITH:  And if I may, when we break, I would just ask for some guidance from the Panel, a request to my friends for their estimate as to how long they think they will be, because I am, again, finding myself with a question about a panel.

MS. HARE:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  So we will have to make a decision on that.

MS. HARE:  That's fine.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Quinn?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Dwayne Quinn.  I think I know most of you now.  And I represent the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.

Mr. Aiken was kind of going through the "what" and I am going to maybe start with the "who" and "how."

If I may start with you, Mr. Isherwood, I was encouraged by your participation on the panel, which wasn't in the original witness list, so when I went to look for the CV I didn't find it.

It seems like you have been -- had a minor change in responsibilities from the last time we met here.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's true.

MR. QUINN:  For the benefit of myself and hopefully the Panel, can you just help me with the scope of responsibilities that is underneath your authority at this time?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sure.

MR. QUINN:  If I may, I am referring to A1, tab 10, page 2.  It might be helpful if we turn that up.  It is an organizational chart that delineates the different areas under Mr. Isherwood's responsibility.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I will start without it.

So as the vice president of business development and storage and transmission, I have seven different direct reports that have basically seven different areas of responsibility.

Mr. Shorts is one of my -- on my team as director of gas supply.  So the gas supply function is my area.

So I will just go across the top.

So Mr. Shorts is part of the group.

Mr. Fay, as manager, underground storage for Canada is also in my group, as well.

The manager of contract billing and operational support is really the back office part of all of the direct purchase activity, at Union Gas.  That role reports in to me, as well.

General manager business development, Mr. Redford, who is appearing before the Board, I believe, next week is also a direct report, responsible for business development activities at Union Gas in terms of large storage, large transmission projects.

The manager of gas control capacity management and GMS, which is the operations side of our large pipelines and storage operations reports to me, as well.

The manager of product process developments, which is an area where we're developing new products and services also reports in to my area.

And finally, the S&T marketing account manager reports in to me, as well -- Patti Piett, for those that know Patti -- and she has accountability for some of the S&T marketing.  Carol Cameron, beside me, reports in to Patty's group. The group also has accountability for some ex-franchise sales into the power market and into the US northeast market.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you for the overview.

I am going to start at the high level and just ask a couple of more detailed questions after that.

I note that the box is shaded gray and it says:  "Not a Union Gas employee."

Can you help me with that understanding?

MS. ELLIOTT:  At the time that this evidence was filed in November, that position was held by Mr. Allan Capps, who is an employee of Spectra.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So Mr. Isherwood is at this time an employee of Union Gas?

MS. ELLIOTT:  He is, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Then this might make my next question a moot point, but I would like to ask for clarification, Mr. Isherwood.

Do you have any other employees reporting to you that are non-Union Gas employees?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, the other shaded box on that chart is the manager, underground storage, Mr. Fay, and he is officially paid through Westcoast, and Union Gas reimburses Westcoast for his salary.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am going to -- one more question for you, Mr. Isherwood, then I will ask Mr. Fay.

So beyond Mr. Fay, I guess you're saying there is no other non-Union Gas employee under your reporting, reporting to you?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe not.  Not as -- I'd say no.

MR. QUINN:  Are there any other services that are not Union Gas services under your responsibility?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  So I am also the president of St. Clair Pipelines.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Also an officer of MHP Canada, and an officer of the Tipperary Pool, as well, Tipperary Limited Partnership.

MR. QUINN:  And those organizations are held by Westcoast; is that correct?  At least jointly owned in some areas?  Maybe I will let you clarify.

MS. ELLIOTT:  With the exception of the Huron Tipperary Storage Pool, the other organizations are Westcoast entities.  Huron Tipperary is Union Gas-owned.

MR. QUINN:  In whole?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes –- sorry, no.  Tribute Energy Resources owns a part of that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's what I thought.  Thank you.

If I may, Mr. Fay -- and I respect that you have been kind of on the end there, and I wanted to give you a moment to get to the mic -- it's good to see you again, Mr. Fay, it's been a while.

You are responsibility, it sounds like, underground storage Canada.  Can you provide to us an understanding of what that role encompasses in terms of Union Gas assets and any non-Union Gas assets?

MR. FAY:  Yes.  I'm responsible for the system planning, the geology and the reservoir engineering and drilling for Union Gas and the affiliates.  And we do that through service-level agreements with the affiliates.

MR. QUINN:  Would there be any other affiliates beyond the MHP Canada or Tipperary that would -– that haven't been discussed so far?

MR. FAY:  Actually there is one other one I had forgotten about, but Airport Pool is a joint venture with AltaGas; it's a single facility joint venture.

MR. QUINN:  So with the addition of Sarnia Airport Pool, Mr. Fay, that --


MR. FAY:  Those would be the main ones, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

So to be clear, then, you have no responsibility or are not at work for any of these affiliates outside of the Union Gas franchise area?

MR. FAY:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So no MichCon, no -- nothing across the border?

MR. FAY:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

There is one position, a couple -- there's two positions under here, Mr. Isherwood, that I wanted further clarification.

Straight down from Mr. Shorts is manager, upstream regulation; would that be the person responsible for managing interventions in TransCanada proceedings?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  That role currently reports in to the S&T marketing account manager.  So he reports in to Ms. Piett.

MR. QUINN:  To Ms. Piett, but ultimately to you?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

And the other role that I had an interest, manager, gas control capacity planning, NGMS, can you help us with that role, what it encompasses?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Certainly.  We have a gas control group out of the Chatham office, which is a control function for our entire system, from Kenora to Cornwall to Windsor.  It's staffed around the clock, as you would expect.

So that whole function reports in to this role.

Also part of that is capacity planning in terms of -- I call it scheduling, but there's some folks that look at the entire system across the entire franchise, and on the day -- on the day and I would say out three or four days looking at what the volume requirements would be in each of the different delivery areas.  So it would be looking at weather patterns and market patterns in the WDA EDA, for example, and detailed analysis for the day, detailed analysis for tomorrow, and then looking out at a little higher level as you get further out.

Then the third part of that is GMS, which is gas management service.  When you talk about scheduling gas on our system, if you're a customer wanting to use our system you have to make a nomination.

So if I was wanting to move gas from Dawn to the EDA and you are a customer of Union Gas, and you send a request into Union Gas - a nomination, we call it - and they would handle all of that process.

So all of those I consider to be kind of the operational side of my group.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  That was helpful just to understand the organization, as we struggled a little bit the other day with what I used to call panel 2, and you being panel 3.  We were trying to work out whose responsibilities lay where.  So hopefully this will help me direct my questions and understand what capacity each of your respective areas hold.

In that regard, we're glad to see Mr. Shorts join us, because we had a little bit of challenge with what I called vernacular, but I think we left some uncertainty around the storage transportation service the other day.

I would like to, if I may, just make sure we have a clear definition of storage transportation service.  So if I could help create a simpler definition, in a pragmatic sense, Mr. Shorts, I liken STS to like a bank account.

By making FT firm transport deliveries, you create an injection -- you create an injection or, from a bank account perspective, you create a deposit.  Are you with me so far?

MR. SHORTS:  You can STS inject if you use your long haul firm to inject into that STS account.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So that's the same as what I said, or did I miss some differentiating feature?

MR. SHORTS:  You can also -- like a bank account, if you have overdraft protection, you could withdraw more than what was in that bank account.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, we will get to that in a moment, then.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the one differentiation Mr. Shorts was making was you can't buy gas at Dawn and put it into the STS account.  It has to come off the TCPL system from the EDA or WDA, for example.  Then it is counted as an injection into the account.

MR. QUINN:  It has to come from the EDA system, as an example.  Let's use EDA to make it simple, Mr. Isherwood, and that has to be coming long haul transport to the EDA?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That is coming long haul transport into Ontario.

MR. QUINN:  The long haul transport to your service area, in this case, the eastern delivery area, creates a deposit like it would into a bank account?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, the gas that is required in the EDA that day.  You can go back to the graph Mr. Shorts talked about this morning.  You say the kind of sine waves, the peaks and the valleys.  That whole valley period, you would be expecting injections into the STS account.

MR. QUINN:  We will get back to those graphs, but I just want to take this one step at a time, because unfortunately I didn't get clarity.

So like a bank account, you make your deposits in good times, like you're talking about when the gas is not needed in the EDA, to create capacity to withdraw it when you need it.  Would that be an appropriate analogy?

MR. SHORTS:  We create the supply in the STS account for when you could need it, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So can I extend that analogy?  If you have this FT contract and you have an STS contract that provides you a maximum daily withdrawal -- so in an everyday sense, like with a bank account, could your STS rate, your maximum daily rate, be likened to the bank card that allows you a maximum daily withdrawal?

MR. SHORTS:  You can withdraw your STS up to your maximum allowable STS withdrawal contracted level, regardless of what you had as a bank account in the STS account.

MR. QUINN:  So this is the overdraft protection that you were referring to before?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  And help us with how that overdraft protection works from the STS point of view.

MR. SHORTS:  So say, for example, you spent a period of time that you were flowing your long haul and you were injecting into that STS account.  You could build up a positive balance.

You could then continue to STS withdraw all the way to zero, and then you could continue to withdraw past zero and you would have to pay an incremental fee to do that.

MR. QUINN:  That incremental fee, is it significantly greater than the commodity charge that you would pay for a normal STS withdrawal if you had a positive balance?

MR. SHORTS:  So, for example, in the EDA, that withdraw cost is an incremental 7 cents a gJ.

MR. QUINN:  And how does that compare to the commodity cost relative to a normal STS withdrawal?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm not exactly sure what the commodity cost is on the STS withdrawal.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  STS is tolled very much like short haul.  So it is a demand charge for the month, and it would go from Dawn to the EDA or Dawn to the NDA, for example.  It is essentially a short haul service.

I don't want to leave the impression it is actually a storage account being used here.  It is really a notional storage account.

MR. QUINN:  It is like a bank account.  That is where we struggled the other day, Mr. Isherwood, so I'm just trying to get clarity.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry.  The problem with analogies is they're not always perfect.  Just let the witness answer the question.

MR. QUINN:  I was asking about the commodity charge, not the demand charge, so that's why I was trying to clarify, Mr. Smith.

MR. SHORTS:  If we look at D3, tab 2, schedule 5, and you go to the STS firm withdrawal, you will see a commodity charge of 0.18, which is 1.8 cents per gJ.

MR. QUINN:  Does that same schedule have -- I guess it does not have the penalty charge on there?

MR. SHORTS:  No, it does not.

MR. QUINN:  In simple numbers, you're talking about 1.8 cents for -- on a standard commodity withdrawal for STS if you have a positive balance, and approximately 7 cents if your balance is less than zero?

MR. SHORTS:  Seven cents on top of the 1.8.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  That's a good clarification.

So with that clarification, that is a point we didn't understand the other day and that is helpful.

I'm going to continue on, but I'll come back to the actual.

So would you agree with me, then, that you are using your STS service to help manage your high consumption days, your peak days, mostly in the months of January and February?

MR. SHORTS:  We are using STS withdraw on a planned basis, as you can see on the graph, to serve high level loads above that firm -- that yellow line plus the green line.  That would be where we would be required on an actual basis to use those STS withdrawals.

MR. QUINN:  Predominantly that would be January and February of the actual utilization, from a plan -- on a planned basis, Mr. Shorts?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, on a planned basis, you're looking at -- I would expect it to follow much in the same way as this one has been on an actual basis.  So you would be looking at certainly between December and March, the whole winter period, basically.

MR. QUINN:  But if Mr. Quigley has put together his annual gas supply plan, would it not be reasonable that most of the STS would be used in January and February?

MR. SHORTS:  It could be.  I don't know the specifics of when he has planned to actually have the STS withdraws being utilized.  But they would certainly be being planned to be utilized in January and February, for sure.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  And because you used March 1st as your last day of a potential peak day?

MR. SHORTS:  I believe so, yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But you would be using STS -- any time you need volumes above -- above the gold line on that chart, you would be using STS.  So it's not necessarily just on peak days.  It is going to be all winter long, any time you are above your average.

MR. QUINN:  Well, that's -- okay.  So when you hold -- if you are holding this STS contract and you are making your increases in your balance or your deposits using long haul firm transport, but you assign that long haul firm transport to another party, you do not have the opportunity to make deposits to your STS balance; is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  If we were not delivering the long haul, we would not be able to STS inject.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the assignments we were discussing -- we spent a good amount of time the other day, which generated this undertaking and the graph.

When Union assigns its FT contracts to a third party, then, the opportunity to make these STS deposits is lost?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I respect that you would not have this handy, but an additional layer of understanding has been gained by Mr. Shorts talking about the overdraft protection, and I guess I would like to ask, for the period that's on the graph, if it would be a difficult undertaking to look at the amount of STS premium service that was used during that time period.

Would you know if that premium service of 7 cents was drawn on during that time period, Mr. Shorts?

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, any situation where we are utilizing the STS withdraw and we are into that premium, as you call it, situation, those costs are completely borne by S&T, and the in-franchise customers are not subject to those costs.

They would just pay the standard commodity cost, not any incremental premium cost.

MR. QUINN:  Where would we see that in -- maybe this is a question for Ms. Elliott.  Where would we see that in any of the filings to understand how those costs are differentiated?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I'm not sure that you would see a breakdown.

STS costs are part of our cost of gas expense in our financial statements, so as the costs are incurred, they are expensed on the income statement.

MR. QUINN:  That's true of cost of gas, but the traditional cost of gas that is a commodity flow-through, you're not talking about that cost of gas?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's right.  There is no deferral mechanism on the STS charges, other than the toll changes from TransCanada.

MR. QUINN:  But the STS commodity charges would flow through to your gas commodity costs, would they not?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  They don't.  STS is treated as a storage cost; it's not subject to deferral.

MR. QUINN:  So it would be under load balancing?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We classify it as a cost of gas.  It's a third-party cost, recorded in our "cost of gas" line as part of the expense.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think I will need to consider that, but I appreciate the clarity that's been provided.

So you turned us back, Mr. Shorts -- again, we have it up on the screen, so I think this might be a good time to deal with it directly.

The graph, as was explained this morning, provided some of what we were looking for in terms of clarity of understanding, how Union actually contracts versus how it actually utilizes the capacity.

If I may ask -- and turning your attention to the yellow line, the yellow line as described in the legend at the bottom says:  "Contracted Empress-to-EDA long-haul, net of in-franchise assignments."

Can you help me with why it was developed on net of in-franchise assignments?

MR. SHORTS:  Sure.  There's a very small volume -- I don't have the exact number -- certainly I believe less than 1,500 gJs a day -- that we have temporarily assigned to T-service customers.  They were once bundled, but they went T-service, and so they asked us for assignment on a temporary basis of the TransCanada capacity, to allow them to manage that on their own.

MR. QUINN:  So this is different than the ex-franchise assignments that we have been discussing?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  I just want to make sure we all have clarity on that.

So similarly, the purple line that is drawn near the top has that similar stream of assigned T-service capacity removed?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  Actually, the purple line was the response to Undertaking 3.7, which was to net off the annual assignments.

MR. QUINN:  But you've got annual in-franchise assignments again.

MR. SHORTS:  No.  Annual and in-franchise assignments, because it is all additive.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  So the in-franchise assignments is removed from the purple line also?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  As it is removed from all through it, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So how long has Union been using STS to supplement its firm long-haul deliveries?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  As far as back as I can remember.  It goes way back.

MR. QUINN:  So...

MR. ISHERWOOD:  '80s, '70s.  I don't know.  Way back.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you -– your guess was --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, Ms. Cameron has the answer to that question.

MS. CAMERON:  Actually, I think, Mr. Quinn, if you look to the compendium that you filed with this, and on page 5, actually, if you look towards the middle in the "CDA" section, you will actually see -- you really just have to go the --


MR. QUINN:  Ms. Cameron, if I may, I had tried to do this in sequence, but I think it is an appropriate time that we ask for an exhibit number, so that everybody can be --


MS. CAMERON:  Oh, certainly.

MR. QUINN:  -- looking at the same compendium.

MR. MILLAR:  This is the FRPO compendium.  It says "for witness panel 3" but it is for the ex-franchise panel.  K6.7, and we will bring copies up for the Panel.
EXHIBIT NO. K6.7:  FRPO COMPENDIUM FOR EX-FRANCHISE PANEL.

MR. QUINN:  That's my apology.  I continue to refer to this as panel 3 in my planning.  We switched panel numbers around, so this is the ex-franchise panel.

MS. HARE:  Do we have copies?  I don't think we do.  So this is 6.7?  Thank you.

[Mr. Millar passes out the exhibit]


MS. HARE:  So we are on page 5 of this compendium; is that correct?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.  If you go to page 5 of the compendium, in the seventh grouping of customer information, you will see "Union Gas" is in the middle of that, and the first "Union Gas" line, it starts with 11, 4-2.

The contract start date is listed there as April of 1992, and that refers to the STS service.  I can't be certain that it didn't exist before then, but I think this does support that it has existed for quite some time.

MR. QUINN:  So historically this service was used for some time to be able to meet peak winter demands.  When did Union –-

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually the purpose of the service is to make sure the FT contracts can flow on a hundred percent load factor, or as close to that as possible.

So it not only helps you serve the winter peak, but also helps you serve the summer valley and provide a spot for that to go back to Dawn.  So it really is a very unique tool.  It is a great service TCPL offers that allows us to balance our system, summer and winter.

It is just as important in the summer as it is in the winter.  Otherwise gas would be very expensive in Ontario.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I am trying to work backwards from the graph into where Ms. Cameron led us, but I think I will just do it this way.

The gas supply panel has a five-year plan and it is annually renewing, and I guess my question is:  How do they determine what STS withdrawal capability would be needed for a particular winter?

MR. SHORTS:  So when we would gather the demands, we would get a forecast of all of the demands, when they were expected to occur.  We would also have the design day information related to that, and then we would, through the SENDOUT model, determine when and how STS withdrawals, for example, could, would and would need to be required during the winter period.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And with that, then, would you then establish some form of target for STS injections to be able to carry a balance into the winter?

MR. SHORTS:  There would certainly be a planned target, but as I mentioned before, from the perspective that if the S&T activity drove us into the negative area, that would not be a cost that would go to the end-use customer in that case.

MR. QUINN:  So are you telling us, then, if you ran into a zero balance in your STS account, that if you had incremental needs to your delivered gas into a delivery area, that your first, I guess, recourse would be to deliver STS overrun?  I'm using that term; is that the correct term for STS when you have a zero balance?

MS. CAMERON:  The service would continue to be a firm service, but we would pay an incremental fee, the 7 cents, to reflect that there wasn't a balance in the account.

MR. QUINN:  And would that be your first alternative for bringing additional gas into the delivery area if you found yourself short?

MS. CAMERON:  The STS service would be continued to be used, yes; it is the alternative.  We would continue to use it as planned.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So how do you differentiate that cost, then, to Ms. Elliott's point that it is being streamed off?  Does that come through -- does that come through your area, or does it go through capacity utilization?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not sure I understand the question.

MR. QUINN:  If you choose through the -- let's say the month of February you don't have a STS balance -- you receive significant overrun charges -- who is responsible to take that cost and say:  That's being borne elsewhere?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The S&T group would absorb that cost into their overall model or business.

MR. QUINN:  And so the capacity utilization people differentiate that cost?  Or who does that separation?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, they would be able to identify the fact that we would be in the situation where we're paying the penalty, and they would identify that.  It would actually show up on the TCPL invoice for that month's activity.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I am focussing in this capacity utilization because it goes into my next question.

Clearly - maybe I will start a step back, because I was asked by the second panel to ask this of the ex-franchise panel, Mr. Isherwood, to you, that when you are delivering gas, you've got a contract, and I will use the EDA as example.

My understanding is the gas need not in the summer arrive in the EDA if your flows are low, like is evidenced on this graph.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.

MR. QUINN:  Who tells the assignee where the gas should go?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Who do you identify as the assignee?

MR. QUINN:  A third party.  Whoever you have assigned the capacity to, they are to deliver gas, but they need not deliver to the EDA, because its ultimate destination is Dawn.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.

MR. QUINN:  My first question is:  My understanding is it does not need to go the EDA?  It can be diverted to Dawn?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So the one option would be we would just leave the contract from Empress to EDA empty, and we would flow from Empress to Dawn on IT and we would do that ourselves.  That's one option.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I want to break this down, if I may stop you there.

What you're saying is you now take back the responsibility somehow of landing the gas in Ontario?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The S&T group will optimize the gas supply plan, and, again, a lot of these decisions are made because of FT RAM being a feature of FT.

So if there's economics and if the market requires exchanges, and we try to generate FT RAM credits, one way of doing that would be to leave the Empress to EDA contract empty.  That would create FT credits -- or IT credits, sorry, and we would flow that gas from Empress to Dawn on an IT basis.

MR. QUINN:  So what you've just described, then, is not an assignment.  This is a choice by Union to leave the pipe empty, bank the credit and find a cheaper path to Dawn?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And what happens in that case --


MR. QUINN:  Sorry, is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  And, Mr. Quinn, just to expand on that, when we do the IT volumes from Empress to Dawn, that path is going to be cheaper than the path from Empress to EDA.

So at the end of the day, we will end up with extra FT credits and we will do other market-based exchanges to derive value out of that.  But as the gas supply panel testified to, in all of that case, we're still buying the same gas at Empress and we're still delivering that same gas to Dawn; just on that day we're doing it differently.  And I call that option A.

Option B was the option that you had started your question with, which was we assigned the Empress to EDA contract to a third party, and, as part of that deal, they would deliver gas, the same volume of gas we bought at Empress, to Dawn.

So both option A and option B have exactly the same result.  They just pay us the differential, if you want, as an S&T benefit.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I want to camp on that second alternative, because that's what I was trying to ask, but I appreciate the understanding on the Union-held S&T, FT RAM scheme that you had.

So the assigning of the Empress to EDA contract, the third party then has the choice to go to Dawn, or do you tell them on any given day where they should land the gas?

MS. CAMERON:  We provide the direction where we want the gas to arrive.

MR. QUINN:  Each month, or during the winter is it more frequently?

MS. CAMERON:  For the term of the transaction.  So if the transformer was a one-month transaction, we would tell them for -- the delivery point will be consistent for the term of the transaction.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So on an annual transaction, you will tell them where to deliver the gas each and every month?

MS. CAMERON:  For an annual transaction we would say, for the winter months, deliver it at location A, and for the summer months, deliver it at location B.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, would location A -- specifically, if the gas is EDA, would location A be, Deliver the gas in the EDA for the winter months?

MS. CAMERON:  It could be.

MR. QUINN:  You've got a contract.  You've got a defined need to go to the EDA, but you're saying would assign away that contract and tell them to transport the gas somewhere else?

MS. CAMERON:  I could have them deliver it to a different delivery area, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So the northern delivery area, the western delivery area?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  I guess my question would be:  Why wouldn't you contract for those delivery areas if that's what your need is?  If you know a year in advance, 12 months in advance, of a gas year that your needs are in the northern delivery area not the eastern delivery area or let's use western delivery area -- well, let's use the western delivery area.

If your need is in the western delivery area, why are you contracting for the eastern delivery area?

MS. CAMERON:  I'm sorry, I'm not -- could you be more specific with your question?

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  You have an annual contract -- maybe what we should do is turn up J.C-4-7-10.

If our ready-reference person could keep that other graph handy, we might need to flip back to it.

So attachment 2, I believe it is of that -- sorry, attachment 1, my mistake -- has the amount of assignments, capacity assignments.  Now, to differentiate, these are not the in-franchise customer assignments that Mr. Shorts was talking about before.  These are ex-franchise customer assignments; is that correct?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if we just start -- because I am going to try to stay consistent with the chart, if we start in November of 2009, you have 80,000 gJs that stems through from November 2009 to October 2010, a minimum of 80,000 gJs.

I think if we're interpreting your graph correctly, that was annualized assignment?

MS. CAMERON:  That is not correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Help us with that.

MS. CAMERON:  If I can take you to the undertakings that were filed I believe last night --


MR. QUINN:  J3.6?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  I was going to go there next.  Thank you.

MS. CAMERON:  And if you look at line 26 -- oops, sorry.  I apologize.  Line 19, you will see that there is an annual assignment for the eastern zone for 60,000 a day.

And I believe just now, I believe Mr. Smith mentioned that we had also filed the undertakings from day 4, and if you could look to Exhibit J4.2?  And, once again, we're looking at the same time period.  You will see on line 10 there is an assignment of 20,000 a day, and on line 11 an assignment of 60,000 a day.  That will reconcile to the 80,000 that was in the original attachment that was filed as an undertaking.

So when we look at the amount back on J3.6, and I apologize for flipping back and forth, but that an annual assignment of 60,000, no more of that is the 20,000 of EDA.

So the 20,000 in EDA capacity that was demonstrated on the graph is all of the capacity that was assigned on an annual basis.  It wasn't 60,000.  It wasn't 80,000.  On an annual basis, 20,000 of capacity was assigned to the EDA.

MR. QUINN:  So you're saying 20 -- I'm sorry,
60,000 -- I'm looking at J3.6, and I think what you have on the screen here is -- this is the challenge with technology, but that is J4. -- oh, it's 3.6, okay.

So you have 60,000 gJs to the eastern zone.  Let's just focus on that.  That is an annual assignment?

MS. CAMERON:  That is an annual assignment made up of 20,000 to the EDA and 40,000 to the CDA.  So that 20,000 is the same 20,000 that we would see on the chart that we've looked at several times today.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then just so -- and this is all in the eastern zone?  That's why you've got the EDA and CDA?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So for the annualized -- I am conscious of the clock.  I think I would like to ask for the winter, starting November 2009 to March of 2012, can you tell us, of that annual assignment, where you had the gas directed, where you had your assignee direct the gas to for each month during that period?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And what I would like to ask, that if you could also add to that what the demand charge -- multiply out what the demand charge would be to the eastern zone versus where you had the gas directed, and what the difference of cost would be for any of those months.

If there is a difference, if any of the eastern zone gas has been directed to another zone, what the difference in demand charge is between the respective zones, and multiply that by the number of units delivered for that month.

MS. CAMERON:  You're interpreting costs -- you mean the TransCanada toll?

MR. QUINN:  Demand charge for the TransCanada toll.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think that is an appropriate time to break, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J6.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.5:  TO ADVISE WHERE UNION DIRECTED ANNUALIZED ASSIGNMENT OF GAS FOR EACH MONTH BETWEEN nOVEMBER 2009 AND MARCH 2012; to multiply the demand charge to the eastern zone versus where the gas was directed, and to advise the difference in cost between those places for any of those months; and If there is a difference, if any of the eastern zone gas has been directed to another zone, to PROVIDE the difference in demand charge between the respective zones, and to multiply that by the number of units delivered for that month.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is November to March?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, November of 2009 to March of 2012.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

We will break until 3:20.

--- Recess taken at 3:03 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:28 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  Before we proceed to Mr. Cameron's cross-examination, Mr. Smith, I wanted to ask about the question that Mr. Wolnik on behalf of APPrO left that was then deferred to this panel.


Is this panel prepared to respond?


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MS. HARE:  Yes?


MR. SMITH:  They can answer the question, and I can just read it in, if that is suitable.


MS. HARE:  Please, yes.


MR. SMITH:  But before I do that, subject to the Board's guidance, of course, and based on what I understand to be the time estimates remaining, I would not propose to have our panel come from Chatham for the finance panel for tomorrow afternoon.  I project, based on current cross-examination estimates, that they would be called after the lunch hour tomorrow.


I am in your hands.


MS. HARE:  What do the time estimates take you to, if we start at 9:30?


MR. SMITH:  Well, if we start at 9:30, I understand Mr. Cameron has an hour, which would take us through the balance of today.


MS. HARE:  Today, yes.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that Mr. Quinn has another hour.  That would take us to 10:30.


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  If we were to resume at 10:45, I understand that Mr. Buonaguro has somewhere around approximately 15 minutes or so, and that would be 11 o'clock.


And I understand that Mr. Thompson has at least -- has an hour and a half, and Mr. Brett has half an hour to 45 minutes, I believe.


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, we may have 15, 20 minutes.


MR. SMITH:  So I think at the earliest we would be looking, based on those estimates, at the afternoon break.


MS. HARE:  I think that is reasonable, particularly since we're not sitting on Monday.  There is no point in bringing people from Chatham on a Friday for an hour and a half.


MR. SMITH:  I appreciate that.  Thank you very much.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Mr. Cameron, please.


MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair.  I think you wanted me read in Mr. Wolnik's question.


MS. HARE:  Yes, I did, sorry.  I raised it and I forgot.


MR. SMITH:  Not at all.  I diverted you, no pun intended.


[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  There's nothing funnier than a glass supply joke.


[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  Cross-examination, this is from page 168 of the transcript on day 2, members of the Panel.


The question is:

"Do you have a forecast of the earliest reasonable time when those attributes..."


And that's a reference to FT RAM:

"...could be phased out if the Board approves that within the TransCanada rate case?"


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So when we filed our initial evidence, it was all based on a forecast that we did back in the spring of '11, essentially, and at that point we had assumed that FT RAM would end on November 1st, actually, of this year.


The NEB process has taken a bit longer than we had expected back in the spring of 2011.  That process should now end -- the end of September is the timeline that people are thinking, with a decision from the NEB to follow.


That question was asked of TCPL.  Assuming they get a decision from the NEB end of year, early next year, when would they be able to phase in the new framework?  I believe the answer they gave was May of 2012.


MS. HARE:  2012 or 2013?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, 2013.  I'm not sure if some of the easier elements, like eliminating FT RAM, may be sooner, but in terms of total framework, they're saying May of 2013.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Mr. Cameron, please.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Cameron:

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  Mr. Isherwood, we heard your impressive list of responsibilities at Union and its affiliates.  Is it a term of your contract that you not take up hang gliding?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, I didn't hear the last part.


MR. CAMERON:  That you not taking hang gliding.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, absolutely, or sky diving.


MR. CAMERON:  I am going to -- I tried to get you out of this, Mr. Isherwood, by punting the questions to Mr. Redford based on a comment made last week -- or, sorry, I guess it was earlier this week, to the effect that Mr. Redford was the one who knew about these St. Clair contracts, but I understand you volunteered to try, at least.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I will do my very best.


MR. CAMERON:  All right.  So if I could start by taking you to your response to the undertaking that you gave to me that is J3.8?  It is the bundle of St. Clair and Bluewater agreements.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  K3 -- which?


MS. CAMERON:  Eight.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I have it.


MR. CAMERON:  There's the response that says the documents are attached, and then the first page of the bundle of contracts, the top of the page reads "Agreement for transportation services".  Are we on the same page?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. CAMERON:  And the second page, this is just a very -- I don't know if "technical" is the right word, but I just want to make sure I understand the definition of international border, because it seems odd to me in this, but I think we can figure out what it is.  It says:

"... means the point on the Belle River-Bickford pipeline which corresponds to the international border between the United States and Canada."


And I hadn't heard of a Belle River-Bickford pipeline before.  Had you?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Nor have I, but I think the national border in this case is the middle of the river, the St. Clair River.  So that is really the demarcation point.


MR. CAMERON:  That's what I would have expected.


So the international -- if you went from Belle River to Bickford - and I can understand how gas could travel that route - you would cross the border on the St. Clair River crossing?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  And is it fair to say that the service that Union acquires from St. Clair on the St. Clair River crossing line is transportation from the point where the St. Clair River intersects the international border to Union's St. Clair valve site or vice versa?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  Same question for the Bluewater line.  Is it fair to say that the service that Union acquires from St. Clair on the Bluewater line is transportation from the point where the Bluewater line intersects the international border to Union's Bluewater valve site, or vice versa?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The only difference on the Bluewater line is there this is, I think, 2-1/2 kilometres of pipe on the Canadian side from the river towards the Sarnia industrial line, whereas St. Clair basically ends right at the river bank, or very close to it.


MR. CAMERON:  Fair enough.


But I think the Bluewater valve site is still the --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. CAMERON:  -- termination of the Bluewater line?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And I think you will also agree that the only way for Union to obtain transportation either way between those two points on the St. Clair River crossing line is to use the St. Clair River crossing line; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Ask that question one more time, please?


MR. CAMERON:  The only way for Union to obtain transportation - and I will fill in the words here - from the point where the St. Clair River crossing intersects the international border to Union's St. Clair valve site, or vice versa, is to use the St. Clair River crossing?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it is true from that point in the middle of the river, obviously, because you're not going to have multiple options from the middle of the river, but that pipeline really goes back to Belle River Mills, which is a compressor plant on the MichCon system.


If you take it up a level and want to go from MichCon to Belle River station to Dawn or to Union, there are different ways of getting it on that path, for sure.  But in terms of on this line from the middle of the river, then you definitely need this point.


MR. CAMERON:  The service you buy is from the middle of the river?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. CAMERON:  And the same is true for the Bluewater line?  The only way for you to obtain transportation from the receipt and delivery points on that line is to use that line?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Again, to go from the middle of the river to the valve site, that's correct.  But to go from Belle River Mills or Bluewater storage to Union, there are other options.


MR. CAMERON:  We're talking about the Bluewater line.  I didn't understand the reference to Belle River Mills.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I was going back to -- the St. Clair line goes to Belle River Mills.  The Bluewater line goes to Bluewater storage.


MR. CAMERON:  Right.  But the service you buy from St. Clair is service from the international border; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  Can we look for a second at J4.5, which I think was just recently filed?  It is titled "Undertaking of Mr. Millar to Mr. Shorts".


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, we have it.


MR. CAMERON:  The second sentence of that response reads:

"St. Clair Pipelines' rates were determined using a cost of service approach at the time they were established."


And my first question is:  Have these rates been determined using a cost of service approach since?

MS. ELLIOTT:  They haven't been changed since they were initially established.

MR. CAMERON:  Yes, I saw that in the sentence that followed, but the question was:  Have the rates continued to be established on a cost of service basis since the beginning of the contracts?

And it's not a trick question, I hope.  The point of the question is normally cost of service rates go up and down, and here we have flat rates, and so I am trying to figure -- I am trying to get those two concepts to parallel.  How -- if you've got flat rates for the last 10 years, and can they still be cost of service rates?

MS. ELLIOTT:  They were initially set on a cost of service basis.  As I recall, they were set for a period of time and they haven't been changed.

So we're using the same rates that were set initially.

MR. CAMERON:  I'll still not getting, I don't think, a response to the question.

Well, let me ask it this way.  Last year, what were the elements of the cost of service in those rates?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We don't recalculate the rates on an annual basis, but the elements of the costs of service rates would be the operating costs, the carrying costs of the assets, which are the interest, the return on the investment and the depreciation, so all of the same components that went into the initial rate design.

The rates were set, contracted for and haven't changed.

MR. CAMERON:  Let me pick up on that answer, if I can.

You mentioned depreciation being one of the elements of the cost of service.  And when we were here last week, we had the financial statements entered -- financial statements for St. Clair entered as Exhibit K3.5.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I have those.

MR. CAMERON:  And if you go to -- I guess we should start at page 3 of 12.  We see that St. Clair has recorded a depreciation expense of $163,725 for, effectively, each of 2011 and 2010; correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  And if we look over to note 4 of the accounting on page 10 of 12, we have a table that shows a declining net book value as a depreciation expense that's taken.

Do you see that?  For both of the lines?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, what page are you on?

MR. CAMERON:  Page 10 of 12.  There's a table under the heading "Capital Assets"?

MR. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  You can see there is a declining net book value.  And you can take this subject to check; if you add up the declines in net book value that lead to the respective accumulated depreciation figures, it correlates with the figure we were just looking at of $163,000 and... right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I'm sorry, could you repeat the question?

MR. CAMERON:  Well, are you following me, that St. Clair is depreciating these assets over time?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, they are.

MR. CAMERON:  And is the O&M going up by the same amount that the pipeline depreciates each year?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't know.  We haven't done that analysis.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, it would be a coincidence if it did, wouldn't it?

MS. ELLIOTT:  There is no correlation between the declining net book value and the increase in O&M.

MR. CAMERON:  Right.  What I'm getting at is can't we draw the conclusion from that, that the rates might have been initially established on a cost basis, but they haven't been on a cost basis after the first year, in each case?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I'm not sure that I can necessarily draw the conclusion.  And unfortunately I don't have the supporting documentation from when the rates were designed 20 years ago.

But the cost of service calculation was based on a period of time, which resulted in under-earnings in the beginning of the period and over-earnings at the end of the period as the rate base declined.

I can't tell you what the period of time over which those initial rates were set.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, that would be one explanation.  Do you know that to be the case, that St. Clair under-earned in the first years of this -- of this contract and over-earned in the subsequent years?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't have evidence to support that, no.  I have a recollection from the time I spent in regulatory when the St. Clair project was going forward, but at this point in time we don't have the files to support that.

MR. CAMERON:  And what about the...  sorry.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. CAMERON:  If you go back to J3.8 -- and these pages aren't numbered, but after the contract we've just -- sorry, that I was just looking at with Mr. Isherwood, with the definition questions, there is a letter dated September 16th, 1996.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, Mr. Cameron, that is after the first contract, is it?

MR. CAMERON:  Yes, that's right.  It's about 12 pages into the bundle.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, we have it.

MR. CAMERON:  You can see that there's a request for a decrease in the monthly demand charge.  Do you recollect - and I can take you to the point if you don't - that the original monthly demand charge was $32,000?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. CAMERON:  Was there some reduction in St. Clair's costs that caused this request by Union for a decrease in tolls?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  As I understand it, Mr. Cameron, there were a couple of Union Gas hearings at about the same time a couple of years prior to this, where the OEB had actually asked Union to go back and request a decrease in the cost of the contract.  It was based on the request of the OEB that we went back and negotiated the reduction.

MR. CAMERON: Again, I'm having difficulty reconciling that with a cost-based rate; though if you were negotiating the reduction on the basis of instructions from the OEB, I suppose the point could be moot.

But do you recollect the basis on which you were asked to negotiate a reduction?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have no recollection.

MR. CAMERON:  Now, that was 1996.  Might the same rationale for the request that you negotiate a reduction between 1990 and 1996 apply in the subsequent periods?

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Cameron, as I mentioned the other day, when we looked at the value that this pipeline brings to us, we did not want to go forth.  We don't feel there was a need to reduce that rate.  We felt that the rate that we were being charged was fair value for the service we were contracting for.

MR. CAMERON:  I remember that answer, but there might be a reason why the value of the service to you isn't the appropriate rate for you to be paying, and I'll have to deal with that in argument.  But --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think you need to look at this from a couple of different perspectives, I guess.  As Mr. Shorts mentioned, certainly the value proposition, we look at it, as well, in terms of the margin that we get on this path when we sell capacity from the middle of the river to Dawn.

Those rates in the wintertime can be 6, 7, 8 cents, as high as ten and perhaps higher once in a while, but call it 7, 8 cents.  Summertime obviously lower than that.  It would be 3, 4, 5 cents.

But this rate on this contract on the St. Clair River crossing is 0.4 of a cent.  So our cost is 0.4 of a cent, which we find to have good value, as Mr. Shorts mentioned.

Ms. Hodgson presented, I think, some analysis that showed the different paths and the costs to get to Dawn, and this path is very competitive with other options.  So we look at it as saying this path provides value, as well.

We look at competing options.  I mentioned before that from Belle River Mills to Dawn there are different paths you can take.  It is not just this pipeline.  And, again, 0.4 cents has value.  It is reasonable.

MR. CAMERON:  Can we go back to J4.5, then?  You answer with St. Clair's fully allocated costs for 2013, and am I correct that the new river crossing will go into service no later than April of 2013?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  It's projected to go in service third week of January, at the latest.  That is when we lose the leased line.  So we're aiming for the third week of January.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And so these fully allocated costs are not the same as the costs for the 2012 rates, which were based on the leased line; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Are you referring to the costs that Union is paying, like, the rate we're paying on the contract between 2012 and 2013?

MR. CAMERON:  No.  I'm referring to St. Clair's costs.  When it says 1.2 million, and then it says 1 million related to Bluewater and 0.2 million related to St. Clair, the 1 million related to Bluewater reflects Bluewater's costs of the new 20-inch river crossing?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  These are not the same costs as you see in the 2011 financial statements.

MR. CAMERON:  And the Bluewater line, from its inception up to it sounds like January of 2013, St. Clair's capital costs, such as it is, are the costs of the lease to Genesis Pipeline; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The lease to Genesis Pipeline is part of the Bluewater path.

MR. CAMERON:  Sorry, did I say St. Clair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe so.

MR. CAMERON:  Sorry.  With respect to the Bluewater line, St. Clair's capital costs are the costs of the lease of the Genesis line?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  In terms of Bluewater, St. Clair's costs are the leased line, and, as I mentioned, 2-1/2 kilometres of pipe on the Canadian side would be part of their capital, as well.

MR. CAMERON:  Fair enough.

Now, I know we're not talking about a lot of money here, so I won't spend more than one or two questions on this, but when I look at the breakout of the fully-allocated costs between the Bluewater and the St. Clair line, it is, again, I think, apparent that the rates you're paying on those two lines haven't been and won't in the future be based on St. Clair's fully allocated cost of each line.

In other words, your St. Clair rate -- or just let me ask the question.  Is your St. Clair rate one-fifth of your Bluewater rate?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The St. Clair rate I believe is 0.4 cents per gJ -- or, sorry, per MCF, and the Bluewater rate is 1.5 cents per MCF.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  So I think my conclusion was correct.  The fully allocated costs of the pipelines together roughly match or are higher than your tolls all taken together, but it is apparent that neither toll today is, or historically has been, calculated on the basis of St. Clair's fully allocated costs for each line?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The tolls aren't being updated annually to reflect the fully allocated costs.  But, as I said, initially they were calculated on a cost basis.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And I take it no one is disputing the point, then, that though they were initially established on a fully allocated cost basis, they have ceased to be so?  I mean, can't we see that from the fact -


MS. ELLIOTT:  They aren't being updated annually to reflect updates in costs, no.

MR. CAMERON:  So they have ceased to become rates based on fully allocated costs; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  The rates we're paying to St. Clair and Bluewater are the negotiated rates that were in the contract, as we have stated.

And because it is a group 2 pipeline, we have not thought that those rates were unwarranted, so we have not complained certainly about those rates or required that St. Clair/Bluewater change those rates, accordingly.

MR. CAMERON:  And I think I agree with you on those points, Mr. Shorts, but can I have an answer to my question?

Do we agree that the rates that St. Clair is charging to Union on these two pipelines are not based on St. Clair's fully allocated costs for each pipeline?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. ELLIOTT:  I guess the difficulty I'm having is initially they were cost-based.  I have agreed they aren't being updated to reflect updated costs, but that doesn't necessarily mean that they're not cost-based.  It is just they're not based on current costs.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  I think, then, you are agreeing with me that the rates that Union is paying to St. Clair on these two pipelines are not based on St. Clair's fully allocated costs?

MS. ELLIOTT:  They're not reflective of the current fully allocated costs.

If that was the case, I would have to increase the tolls that Union Gas is paying; decrease St. Clair and increase Bluewater.

MR. CAMERON:  And just to, I think, close the circle on this point, can you appreciate that with Union at times proposing extra-jurisdictional projects involving these pipelines, that it could matter that the rates that Union pays be appropriately allocated as between the two pipelines?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think we're talking fractions of a penny here, Mr. Cameron.  I'm not sure it would make a difference in terms of the total path.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, if the St. Clair line came out of Union's rate base and the St. Clair River crossing became dedicated to an extra-jurisdictional pipeline, it could matter what Union's consumers were left paying for the Bluewater line, right?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I don't think we want to revisit the Dawn Gateway proceeding, but -- that ship sailed.

MR. CAMERON:  I know.  I am just using it as an example of why it could matter.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But I think in the case you gave, the rate we're paying on Bluewater, the 1.5 cents based on the river expansion, is underpaying Bluewater, not overpaying.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, but maybe your next proposal will be to take Bluewater out of -- a Bluewater path out of jurisdiction.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Then we're talking about a rate today of 0.4 cents might go -- should be at 0.3 cents.  We're not talking pennies and nickels.  We're talking a fraction of a penny.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Can you just bear with me through these contracts a little longer?

One evolution that we see in these contracts is that you have gone to a situation where, as I understand it - and I just got these at 7:00 o'clock last night, so correct me if I'm wrong - we are now in a situation where both of these contracts are terminable by St. Clair on one year's notice?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would have to take that subject to check, because both contracts –- at least the St. Clair contract changed a few times.  I can take that, subject to check, or I can take a look, if you prefer.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, let's take that subject to check.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay.

Mr. CAMERON:  And the question is:  Why has Union agreed to those changes, given the value that Mr. Shorts has described as being derived from these lines?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think, as normal commercial terms, once you get through a primary term -- and both of these contracts had a lengthier primary term -- a one-year renewable contract is pretty standard, with notice for both parties to cancel.

MR. CAMERON:  The effect, then, though, is that St. Clair could take either of these or both of these routes away from you on one year's notice; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. CAMERON:  Can we go through to the first Bluewater contract, which is after the -- it's about two pages after the amending agreement for the St. Clair contract.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I have it.

MR. CAMERON:  Thanks.  And maybe I can just ask you this question without going through all of the references.

Can you confirm for me that, originally, you were paying a commodity rate on the Bluewater line?  That is, you paid for what you used?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I missed the very last parts of that.

MR. CAMERON:  You paid for what you used, on the Bluewater line?  According to the initial contract?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  My understanding -- my understanding is as of the start of that contract, we were paying for the firm demand of 200,000 MCFD.

And in 1999 we actually reduced the contract demand down to 115,000 MCFD.

But in both cases, we're still paying the same unit rate of one-and-a-half cents on the Bluewater line.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Well, let's follow that through.

If you look at the third page of this contract, article 3.1, you can see there is a contract quantity of 200 million cubic feet per day, which accords with the answer you just gave?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  And then if we go over two pages to section 9.1, we read:

"Commencing on the date the pipeline is completed and in service, shipper agrees to pay transporter a commodity rate of 0.15 cents per MCF."

Follow that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  Now, then if you go to the end of that contract, about six or eight pages, we come to a document "first amendment to the transportation services agreement between St. Clair Pipelines and Union Gas Limited," dated November 1, 1995?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  And what we see here is the first amendment, which is the new contract quantity of 115 million cubic feet per day, which accords with your recollection, Mr. Isherwood.

And then in the next amendment, it says:

"Effective November 1, 1999 and continuing until October 31, 2005, the shipper agrees to pay the transporter a monthly demand charge..."

So we now have a monthly demand charge, such as you pay on the St. Clair River crossing.

"...equal to the applicable amount approved by the National Energy Board from time to time."

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Stop.  Stop.  Not you, that screen.

MR. CAMERON:  So with that little trip through the original contract and the amending contract, would you say now that, under the original contract, you had a commodity rate, where you paid for what you used, and then under the amendment, you went to a demand charge, a monthly demand charge, albeit at the same per-unit rate?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We definitely went to a demand charge contract in the amendment, and I would have to take it subject to the undertaking in terms of your first question on the first contract.

I had assumed that it was demand-based, but I would want to double-check.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Would you undertake to do that, check and tell us whether you were paying 200 million a day times --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.

MR. CAMERON:  -- the rate, or just the amount you used?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J6.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.6:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER, UNDER THE ORIGINAL CONTRACT, UNION PAID A COMMODITY RATE, AND THEN UNDER THE AMENDMENT, UNION PAID A MONTHLY A DEMAND CHARGE AT THE SAME PER-UNIT RATE.

MR. CAMERON:  Now, with respect to the second amendment on the same page, we have as Exhibit K3.6 a bundle of St. Clair and Bluewater tariffs with the National Energy Board.

And I don't warrant that that is a complete set.  It is what the National Energy Board gave TransCanada when it asked for a complete set, but it doesn't include any tariff other than the original 1995 Bluewater tariff.

Do you know whether there were any subsequent tariffs filed for Bluewater?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm not aware of any more that were filed.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And if we read the second amendment, then, the amendment made your demand charge:

"...equal to the applicable amount approved by the National Energy Board from time to time."

But the only tariff you filed with the National Energy Board is based on the 0.015 cents for each million cubic foot of daily contracted firm demand.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. CAMERON:  Let me change this from a question --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So my -- subject to check.  And I don't have a calculator in front of me, but I think the monthly fee that we pay is based on the demand of 115,000 in the amendment times the one-and-a-half cents in the rate.

MR. CAMERON:  I think you meant 0.015 cents?  Or is it --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, I think it is 1.5 cents.  It is 0.015 dollars.

MR. CAMERON:  Sorry.  Thanks for the correction.

I said I was going to change the question into a suggestion.  St. Clair is charging Union a rate that does not accord with the tariff that it filed with the National Energy Board in 1995, based on what we've just looked at?

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Cameron, I would say that the rate we're paying, if you look, it says the 1.5 cents for each unit of daily contracted demand.

So as Mr. Isherwood said, we're paying them the 115,000 times the .15 (sic) times 365.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, trust me, Mr. Shorts, I'm trying to be helpful here.  The amendment changed it to a monthly demand charge, and your tariff filed with the NEB refers to a fee based on daily contracted firm demand.

MR. SHORTS:  Which is a monthly -- which is a common terminology for a monthly demand charge.  Your firm contracted demand is our 115,000.  So you would take your firm contracted demand times your demand charge of the .15 (sic), and that's the rate that you are paying.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would agree that the language maybe in the tariff and or the amendment, one of the two, is a little awkward, but what's been transpiring since 1996, I think it was -- '95, sorry, is -- the calculation is the contract demand level times one-and-a-half cents, times 365 divided by 12.  That would be the monthly fee that we'd be paying.

MR. CAMERON:  I'm not the NEB police, and so I will leave it with you as the president of St. Clair, but one option would be to, pronto, go back to Chatham and file a new tariff with the National Energy Board, so, if you are not in compliance now with the NEB Act, you will be then.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Cameron, as you are looking through your questions, I just want to remind you we do have a 4:30 hard stop.

MR. CAMERON:  Yes, thank you.

In the first Bluewater contract -- two pages down, Mr. Buonaguro.  If you move two pages...

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Cameron, are we in the undertaking or K3.6?

MR. CAMERON:  Sorry.  We are in J3.8.

MR. SMITH:  J3.8?

MR. CAMERON:  Yes, the first Bluewater contract.

And, again, we are at article 9.1, and we will go down to 9.3:
"In the event that shipper utilizes the capacity on the Bluewater line to resell as a firm service, shipper agrees to share 50 percent of any resulting profit with transporter."

And I think you will agree with me that that, if it ever occurred - and I don't know that it ever did - would not have been a cost-based rate; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Again, I missed the very tail end of that.

MR. CAMERON:  If that had occurred, it would not have been a cost-based rate; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I can confirm it never happened.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay, I will move to another topic.  I have two types of questions about Dawn-to-Dawn service.  And for clarity, I know that's the lingo we use and I will use it, but we understand that when we talk about Dawn-to-Dawn service, we're talking about Union Dawn to Dawn TCPL; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  One type is commercially related, which I think is the right stuff for this panel.  I have some engineering questions that I'm going to save for the Dawn Parkway panel, which has a pipeline engineer on it.

I know that Mr. Smith invited me to ask them of this panel, but I'm not going to waste my time, because there isn't a pipeline engineer.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, Mr. Fay is very knowledgeable about Dawn, so it might be appropriate to Mr. Fay.  If he can't answer it, then potentially Mr. Redford and others could.  But Mr. Fay would have some knowledge there.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Let's start there, then.

We asked an information request and got a response which appears as Exhibit -- as attachment 1 to Exhibit J.G-1-7-7.

Have you found that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, we do.

MR. CAMERON:  We asked an information request and asked that we be given a schematic containing a certain amount of information and that the schematic be in the form that you have provided here, but we didn't get the information that goes along with the schematic.  So I am just going to ask if you could undertake to add some information to the schematic, and I will read it out and you can consider if it makes a sensible undertaking.

The box that is currently labelled "Great Lakes, Dow Moore, Tecumseh & Vector", we would ask that be separated into three boxes so that it shows one box as Dawn TCPL or Great Lakes, whatever you want to call it, and another box that is Dow Moore and Tecumseh, and another box that is Vector.  That is the first change we would propose.

Can you do that, Mr. Fay, or can Union do that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, if we could hear all of the requests at once?  We do have some concerns around the security of the Dawn yard.  We don't want to provide too much information publicly, but why don't you go through your request and we can decide at the end?

MR. CAMERON:  Then add the flow direction arrows, representing the direction of flow on a design day when Union is physically delivering 500 terajoules to Dawn TCPL.  So just arrows showing where, on that schematic, the gas is flowing.

Then add a box or boxes on the schematic for the dehydration facilities that are referred to in the answer to one of our other IRs, the Dawn-to-Dawn IR.  I think they're pretty simple changes.

MR. FAY:  Can I ask for a clarification on the point?  Point number 2, you want a flow direction arrows.  Are the flow direction arrows that are on there inadequate?

MR. CAMERON:  Well, they're not the ones we asked about.  We asked for the flow direction arrows -- or we asked that the schematic show the flow direction on a design day when Union is physically delivering 500 terajoules to Dawn TCPL.

MR. FAY:  Correct.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Do you understand that?

MR. FAY:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  Could we have that undertaking, please?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J6.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.7:  TO PROVIDE CHANGES REQUESTED TO SCHEMATIC IN UNDERTAKING RESPONSE J.G-1-7-7.

MR. CAMERON: Now referencing that schematic at J.G-1-- sorry, J.G-1-7-7, what facilities are being used to provide Dawn-to-Dawn service today?

MR. FAY:  For the 500 million a day that TransCanada has signed a contract for, the flow is going directly from the Vector pipeline to Great Lakes.  So it's a -- an exchange within the Dawn yard of 700-pound gas being received from Vector, and then it's being redirected to the Great Lakes metering site.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Cameron, I don't know how much you're going to pursue this, but I did hear the caution from Mr. Isherwood that he has some concerns about confidentiality, in terms of the layout.

If you have a concern, we can go in camera, but if you are okay with how it is going, that's fine.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the concern is more around the schematic, but we will try to keep it at a high enough level that we're okay.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Okay.

MR. CAMERON:  We just want schematic flows.  We don't want the type of physical layout information yet --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Fair enough.

MR. CAMERON:  -- that I think you're concerned about.

MS. HARE:  Did you say "yet"?

[Laughter]


MR. CAMERON:  Now, this is probably for you, Mr. Isherwood.

You are familiar with the history by which this Dawn-to-Dawn service came about?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am.

MR. CAMERON:  And can I encapsulate it this way, that as a result of declining easterly flows on the TransCanada system, it became necessary for TransCanada to provide service by using flows physically into Dawn-TCPL, instead of just out of it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. CAMERON:  And this was a decision that TransCanada made because it was requested to do so by its shippers?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would have characterized it as something that TransCanada needed to do to meet their firm commitments.  I don't know if shippers asked for it or not, to be honest.  They may have.  I don't know.

MR. CAMERON:  The alternative was for TransCanada to build facilities, and its shippers preferred that TransCanada obtain this Dawn-to-Dawn service; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't know.  I think -- my recollection of this, Mr. Cameron, was to provide service back into TCPL to meet their -– basically, the short-haul commitments.

So to your -- your point is well taken, that the alternative would have been to build facilities.  And I don't recall the discussion that the tolls task force -- in terms of the preference between the two, but that may have been where it went.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And if TransCanada determined that it could provide service to Union and other Ontario customers most economically by contracting for more Dawn-to-Dawn TCPL service, and TransCanada was willing to contract for that service, I trust that Union would make incremental Dawn-to-Dawn service available?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  So to the extent that TransCanada needed more Dawn-to-Dawn TCPL service, there would be a cost to do that, a capital cost that was part of the undertaking and motion, as well, I believe.  So that number is on the record, as well.

Union is concerned that this path is not as economic as being more directly going from Dawn to Parkway rather than going -- this gas going basically back on the Great Lakes and up through -- up through Emerson and back around northern Ontario back to Toronto.  It is a long way to take the gas.

So, as you know, Union is not supportive of that path, and would want to be convinced that the costs were appropriate.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, if TransCanada decided that it was the cheapest way for it to do so, and was willing to contract for it, I trust Union would provide the service?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  If TransCanada asked for the service and could be -- through either an aid-to-construct or through the rate itself, then we would provide the service, but we would still ask questions around the prudency of that.

We don't believe that path is the right path, but that would be a disagreement we have between us.

MR. CAMERON:  If we had longer, I would engage you on that, Mr. Isherwood, but I think you're right.  We have a disagreement about that.

Let me go this far.  If it's TransCanada paying the fare, so to speak, if TransCanada determines that it's most economical for its shippers -- including Union customers and other Ontario gas users -- to get gas to market using Dawn-to-Dawn service, why would Union decline -- or are you saying Union would decline to provide that service, even if TransCanada was willing to buy it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  I think as any customer approaching Union Gas for service, we would obviously provide the service.

That is our requirement and we would do that.

My point is more around -- and perhaps more an NEB issue, maybe, than an OEB issue, but we would definitely want to be convinced it was the best for the market.

MR. CAMERON:  Fair enough.  You would want to convince TransCanada that Dawn-to-Dawn service wasn't the most economic way to get gas to market; is that what you're saying?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  Union Gas is being faced with a lot of turnback right now.  That's in our evidence.

And we can see the day not too far down the way where we will have empty capacity in our Dawn-to-Parkway system, Dawn-to-Toronto system.

So we obviously want to do what's best for our customer, as well.  And our view is that gas should flow on the path, which is Dawn-to-Toronto, rather than going around the Great Lakes.

So I think -- I think it is fair enough.  It is probably more an NEB discussion.

But our interest is keeping our pipe full and keeping our rates as low as possible for our customers.

MR. CAMERON:  I see.

When you -- I guess this is a question for you, Mr. Fay, or you might not have been involved at the time, but when TransCanada asked Union for 500 terajoules of Dawn-to-Dawn capacity, how did Union figure out that it would be able to do that?

MR. FAY:  The Dawn-to-Dawn TCPL service was determined on the basis -- we looked at the Vector volumes and what we thought that we could receive on a fairly firm basis from Vector, without much risk, going forward for the term of the contract.

So we knew that we were able to use the Vector volumes to divert them to the Great Lakes, to provide the service for TransCanada.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would just add to that I think at the time the intent was that the service would not be used very often.  And in fact, I think the first few years it wasn't used at all; more of a backstopping arrangement.

But I think the understanding, or at least our understanding was it would not be used every day, 365, at half a BCF a day.  It was more of an occasional use, more of a backstopping insurance policy type of arrangement.

MR. CAMERON:  Fair enough.  As a matter of fact -- you might be familiar with this, Mr. Isherwood -- it was only used on three days in 2011; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.  Actually, that's, I think, in '12.  I think it was this past winter.  I think.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Fair enough.  '11/'12.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it was January, but yes.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And for the last three years, if you can remember it, Mr. Fay, what has been your daily receipts from Vector during the winter?

MR. FAY:  It varies every day.

MR. CAMERON:  It is in the range of one BCF?

MR. FAY:  It goes as low as 500 million a day, you know, historically.  On summer days we can be very low.

MR. CAMERON:  Right.  Let's stick to the winter.  Can you undertake to provide your Vector receipts on a daily basis for the last three years?

MR. SMITH:  Just one moment, Mr. Cameron.

MR. CAMERON:  Sorry, and just in the winter period.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We actually have a graph that shows the Vector volumes going back two or three years, so it would be easy to do that.

MR. SMITH:  That there is the answer.

MR. CAMERON:  Or show me where in the evidence.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It may not be in the evidence.  It is included in presentations in the past, but it may not be in evidence.

MR. CAMERON:  It shows the daily volumes?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J6.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.8:  TO PROVIDE YOUR VECTOR RECEIPTS ON A DAILY BASIS FOR THE LAST THREE YEARS IN THE WINTER.

MS. CAMERON:  Thank you.

You referred to a price estimate for providing this service.  If I'm correct, that was in -- I'm not sure what exhibit this was given, but Union's responses to the compelled undertakings.  I know what -- it's the answer to J.G-1-7-11, but that was in a letter form that came after the other undertaking responses.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Cameron, what is the question?  Just to confirm this?

MS. CAMERON:  In part d) of that response, there is in the fourth-last line a reference to the preliminary estimated cost of this alternative was $130 million; correct?

MR. FAY:  That's correct.

MR. CAMERON:  And does Union take the position that that estimate is an accurate proxy for any of the 600, 800 or 900 tJ increments that were referred to in the question?

MR. FAY:  It's a high-level estimate, but, yes, we do.

MR. CAMERON:  Now, that was an estimate for going from zero to 800 million cubic feet a day; correct?

MR. FAY:  That's for 800 million a day, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  Was the cost from going from zero Dawn-to-Dawn capacity to 800 a day; correct?

MR. FAY:  Correct.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And that included compression; correct?

MR. FAY:  Correct.

MR. CAMERON:  What would be the price without compression, ballpark?

MR. FAY:  Ballpark would probably be around $40 million.

MS. CAMERON:  Thank you, Madam Chair, those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you, Mr. Cameron.  We are adjourned, then, for today and we will resume tomorrow at 9:30.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:32 p.m.
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